
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

February 4, 2020  9:00 am 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Shari Barr 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 
 
A) Presentation of the Arbor Day Proclamation 
B) Recognition of the City’s Participation in the Tree City USA Program  
C) Recognition of the Finance Department for receiving the Government Finance Officers Association 

Distinguished Budget Award for the FY2020 Budget.  
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda: 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 01-21-2020 Work Session Minutes 
b) 01-21-2020  Council Minutes 

 
6. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license Sec. 6-5 

 
A) G8 State LLC 
     DBA: G8 Stop 1 
     240 S Main St  
     Dhaval Patel/Satyam Shah/Gaurav Soni/Krupal Soni 
 
B) G8 Southern LLC 
     DBA: G8 Stop 2 
     421 Northside Dr E 
     Dhaval Patel/Lipika Patel 
 
C) JDJ Partners LLC 
     DBA: Bull & Barrel 
     30 W Main St 
      James Peery/ Jason Franklin 
 
D) The Southern Pony 
     721 S Main St #8 
     Jeffery Wells 
 
 
 



 
 

E) Blue Water Seafood, LLC 
    DBA: Patterson's Station 67 
    26 Independence Way 
    Thomas Scarborough 
 
F) American Multi-Cinema, INC 
    DBA: AMC Statesboro 12 
    991 Lovett Rd 
    American Multi-Cinema, Inc 
      

7. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2020-03: A Resolution requesting approval to apply 
for the Georgia Firefighters Standards and Training Council Fireworks Tax Grant for the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia. 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2020-04: A Resolution authorizing the destruction of 
certain Municipal Records 
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2020-05: A Resolution adopting the proposed 
codification of Sec. 6-4 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances and set issuance fee at $250.00. 
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2020-06: A Resolution approving application and 
authorizing the Mayor to execute a Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) Local Maintenance 
& Improvement Grant (LMIG) application. 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2020-07: A Resolution accepting Right of Way of 
Bethany Way as a Public Street to be owned and maintained by the City of Statesboro, Georgia. 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to Approve the amended Development Agreement with JGR concerning the 
placement of public infrastructure within the Old Register TAD and City reimbursement to developer 
for placement of said public infrastructure. 
 

13. Other Business from City Council 
 
14.  City Managers Comments 
 
15. Public Comments (General) 

 
A) Marsha Twiggs speaking about the ditch in front of her house and would like a sidewalk put in for 

safety reasons. 
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” “Real Estate” 
and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

                         Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
   
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  John Washington, Public Works / Engineering Director 
 
From:  Robert Seamans, Streets and Parks Superintendent 
 
Date:  1/24/20 
 
RE:  Arbor Day Proclamation and Tree City USA Recognition 
 
Policy Issue:  Tree Board Request 
 
Recommendation:  
The Statesboro Tree Board requests two items on the February 4, 2020 city 
council meeting agenda for a proclamation recognizing Arbor Day 2020 in the 
City of Statesboro and recognition of the City of Statesboro’s participation in the 
Tree City USA program.  Tree Board Chairman, Wesley Parker, has requested that 
members of the Tree Board accept the proclamation and has indicated that 
Georgia Forestry Urban Forester, Alex Ballard, will present the Mayor and Tree 
Board with a Tree City USA flag. 
 
Background:  
The Statesboro Tree Board seeks to promote a healthy urban forest within the 
City of Statesboro.  Two initiatives of the tree board are recognition, promotion 
and participation in an annual Arbor Day program and participation in the Tree 
City USA program through the Arbor Day Foundation. 
 
Budget Impact:   
None 

Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments: 
Arbor Day Proclamation 
 







 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 

JANUARY 21, 2020 
 
Mayor & Council Work Session        50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                              4:00 PM 
 
A Work Session of the Statesboro City Council was held on January 21, 2020 at 4:00 p.m. at Joe Brannen Hall, 
58 East Main Street. Present was Mayor Jonathan McCollar; Council Members: Phil Boyum, Paulette Chavers, 
Venus Mack, John Riggs and Shari Barr. Also present was City Clerk Leah Harden, City Attorney Cain Smith, 
City Manager Charles Penny. 
  
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar.  
 

1) Park & Recreation Presentation 
Ronald Huffman with Wood group presented an outline and tentative schedule for the study of operations, 
maintenance staffing and programs at Grady Street Park, Luetta Moore Park and Memorial Park also known 
as Fair Road Park. Mr. Huffman explained there would be an analysis of existing conditions of the parks. 
Then needs a priority assessment, which would include operations, maintenance, staffing review, programs 
review, input from the public such as staff work sessions, stakeholder interviews, strategy session with City 
Council and a public open house. A master plan sketch for each park will presented to Mayor and Council at 
a Work Session slated for March 17. The timeframe of this process would be approximately 2 months. 
Councilman Phil Boyum brought up other park with in the City asking what the plans are for them. Mayor 
McCollar explained we are starting with the three parks and work from there for improvements to other 
parks a possibly the creation of Pocket Parks in the City. 

2) Transit Presentation 
Civil Engineer, Kiara Ahmad presented the Statesboro Transit Implementation update. The Transit system is 
a flex service operated by the Coastal Regional Commission. The buses would run Monday thru Friday 6:00 
am to 6:00 pm with a proposed fare rate of $1.00 one way.  The plan includes two flex routes with an 
average travel time of forty minutes round trip. The buses are Ford E-350 shuttle bus with wheelchair lift. 
Each bus has a capacity of ten passengers with two wheelchairs. Each flex route will have two buses. The 
cost for Capital expense for the City will be $21,420.00, a 10 percent match from state funds and 80 percent 
from Federal Section 5311 grant funds. The operational costs for the City will be approximately $161,100, a 
50 percent match to State funds. The goal is to be operational July 2021. 

3) Road Resurfacing  
Director of Public Works and Engineering John Washington reviewed with Mayor and Council the Fiscal 
Year 2020 Street Resurfacing program Assessment process and Project List. The City receives funding from 
the Georgia Department of Transportation annually through the Local Maintenance Improvement Grant 
(LMIG). The process begins with the assessment of the roads, a rating of 1 – 5 is applied, one being the best 
and five being the worst. The funding for theses improvements come from the LMIG funds with a local 
match and we have TSPLOST funds for resurfacing. A list of roads needing resurfacing presented to Council 
for approval in December 2019 is submitted to the Georgia Department of Transportation along with the 
LMIG application. We are able to expand the list based on the amount of funds received. At this time, we are 
looking at 6.42 miles of resurfacing for FY2020. 
 



4) Quarterly Financial Report  
Director of Finance Cindy West gave a report on the revenue and expenditures in the General Fund, 
Statesboro Fire Service Fund and Public Utility Fund, for the second quarter of the 2020 fiscal year. The city 
is right on track with its budget. 
5) Auditor Report and Brief Presentation 
Richard Deal with Lanier, Proctor and Deal presented the Financial Audit findings for Fiscal Year 2019 
ending June 30, 2019 for the City of Statesboro. Mr. Deal showed the City had a total asset increase of six 
percent, total liability decrease of seven percent from the previous year. The General Fund balance represents 
forty-five percent of our annual expenditures and transfers out. Having a high fund balance percentage 
allows for a higher credit rating and we are able to borrow at a lower interest rate. He also reviewed the net 
position of SPLOST, TSPLOST, Proprietary Funds Enterprise Funds and Internal Service Funds. 
   
The meeting was adjourned at 5:15 pm 
 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
JANUARY 21, 2020 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                            50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                     5:30 PM 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  
 

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 
Director of the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority Allen Muldrew gave the invocation. 
Councilmember John Riggs led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present  
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present  
Shari Barr Councilmember Present  

 
Other staff present was: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, City Attorney Cain Smith 
and City Clerk Leah Harden. 
 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 

A) Presentation by Richard Deal with Lanier Deal and Proctor on how the City financially ended Fiscal 
Year 2019. 

Richard Deal with Lanier, Deal and Proctor presented to Mayor and Council how the City financially ended Fiscal Year 
2019 
 

B) Presentation by Fair Count regarding the 2020 Census. 
Evelyn Jaudon with Fair Count a non-profit organization presented to Mayor and Council what their organization is all 
about and the resources they have and use so all people can be counted in the 2020 Census. 
 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 01-07-2020 Council Minutes 

  
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Councilmember  Shari Barr 



2 
 

 
  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve: Application RZ 19-12-01: James Hendry requests 

a zoning map amendment of 0.692 acres of property located at 8 North Mulberry Street from R-3 (Medium 
Density Multiple Family Residential) to CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district in order to redevelop an 
existing warehouse building as a commercial building with multiple unites of business (Tax Parcel s28 000091 
000).   

 
A motion was made to open the Public Hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
No one spoke for or against Application RZ 19-12-01. 
 
A motion was made to close the Public Hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A motion was made to approve application RZ 19-12-04 a zoning map amendment of 0.692 acres located at 8 North 
Mulberry Street from R-3 to CR.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



 

3 
 

 
 
 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve application of an alcohol license Sec. 6-5 

A) 301 Onestop 
Nilay Bhatt 
17402 N Hwy 301 
Statesboro, Ga 30458   

 
A motion was made to open the Public Hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

No one spoke for or against this application. 
A motion was made to close the Public Hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

A motion was made to approve the alcohol application for 301 Onestop. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2020-02: A Resolution authorizing the closing of the Bank 
account for the 2016 Community Development Block Grant.   

 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember  John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



4 
 

A motion was made to Resolution 2020-02: A resolution closing of the bank account for the 2016 community 
development block grant.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
9. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Sixth Amendment to the Lease Agreement with AT&T 

regarding the City water tower access lease located at 201 Lanier Drive.  
 
A motion was made to approve the sixth amendment to the lease agreement with AT&T regarding the City water tower 
access located at 201 Lanier Drive.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
10. Consideration of a Motion to Award a contract to Suez Inc. in the amount of $37,470.00 for emergency 

repairs to Well #10 with funds from Water Sewer system revenues.   
 
A motion was made to award a contract to Suez Inc. in the amount of $37,470.00 for emergency repairs to Well #10.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
11. Consideration of a Motion to Authorize payment to Continental Road LLC in the amount of $39,395.00 to 

upgrade 8” water main to 12” water main.  
 
A motion was made to authorize payment to Continental Road LLC in the amount of $39,395.00 to upgrade 8” water 
main to 12” water main.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  John Riggs 



 

5 
 

 
  SECONDER: 

 
  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to award a Professional Services Contract to Hussey, Gay, Bell Inc. in an amount 
not to exceed $139,340.00 for modifications to Blowers and Influent Pumps at the Waste Water Treatment 
Plant with funds approved as part of the 2020 CIP Budget item #WWD 168 and #WWD 169.  

 
A motion was made to award professional services contract to Hussey, Gay, Bell Inc. in an amount not to exceed 
$139,340.00 for modifications to Blowers and Influent Pumps at the Waste Water Treatment.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

13. Other Business from City Council 
Councilmember Phil Boyum asked if the Parks and Recreation Consultant needed to have a contract approved by 
Council. City Manager Charles Penny stated the Bulloch County is paying for the consultant. Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
gave an overview regarding park improvements in the City as presented in the previous work session. He stated we will 
be starting with Memorial Park (Fair Road Park), Luetta Moore Park and Grady Park.  
Mayor Jonathan McCollar announced he will be giving a State of the City Address on February 18, 2020 at 5:30 pm. 
 
14.  City Managers Comments 

City Manager Charles Penny stated we will need for the Council to approve the Audit Report done by Lanier Proctor 
and Deal for Fiscal Year 2019. 
 
A motion was made to approve the Audit report provided by Lanier, Proctor and Deal on how the City financially ended 
Fiscal Year 2019.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
City manager Charles Penny stated an approval needs to be granted for the renewal of the Global Markets Entity 
Identifier Authorization form, which allows the City to continue participation with the 1998 GMA Lease Poole. 
 
 
 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack  

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



6 
 

A motion was made to approve the renewal of the Global Markets Entity Identifier Authorization Form. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
15. Public Comments (General)   

KeShawn Houser thanked Mayor and Council for their work towards improvements to Luetta Moore Park. He also stated 
he would like the qualifying age to run for public office to be changed. 
Marcus Toole with Bulloch County Habitat for Humanity thanked Mayor and Council for their efforts on City park 
improvements.  
Rev. James Byrd Sr. invited Mayor and Council to a forum regarding city improvements to be held at Luetta Moore Park 
on February 15, 2020.  He also stated Packinghouse Road needs attention such as resurfacing. Mayor McCollar explained 
the process of paving roads and how they are chosen. 
Charlie Jackson from Whitesville stated he is concerned about the park located behind his house. He stated is needs some 
attention and that he would like to get with his Councilmember to discuss this issue. Mr. Jackson in is District 1 
represented by Phil Boyum. Councilmember Phil Boyum stated he would be glad to talk to him about this issue and wait 
and they could connect after the meeting. 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” “Real Estate” 

and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 
There was no Executive Session. 
 
17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 

 
A motion was made to   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:11 pm  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



























































































































































Statesboro Fire Department 
Proudly serving the City of Statesboro and 

surrounding communities since 1905! 
 

   

24 West Grady Street | Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone: (912) 764-3473 | Fax: (912) 681-7205 

 

Timothy E. Grams 
Fire Chief 

Jonathan M. McCollar 
Mayor 

City Council Agenda Memorandum 
 
To: Charles Penny, City Manager  
 
From: Timothy E. Grams, Fire Chief 
 
Date: 1-23-2020 
 
RE: Submission of Application for the 2020 Georgia Firefighter Standards and Training Council   
        (GFSTC) Fireworks Tax Grant. 
 
Policy Issue: NA 

Recommendation: Allow the Statesboro Fire Department to submit an application for the GFSTC 
Fireworks Tax Grant for funding the purchase of a Digital Fire Extinguisher Simulator. 

Background: The Georgia Firefighter Standards and Training Council (GFSTC) Fireworks Tax Grant is 
intended to aid Georgia fire departments, fire service associations and/or other fire service organizations 
within the State with maintaining and/or improving community’s Insurance Services Organization’s 
(ISO) Public Protection Classification (PPC).  The Statesboro Fire Department intends to submit an 
application seeking funding that would allow the purchase of a Digital Fire Extinguisher Simulator to be 
used as part of the Department’s Public Fire and Life Safety Education Program.  This piece of 
educational equipment will greatly enhance the Fire Department’s ability to teach citizens of all ages the 
proper and safe utilization of fire extinguishers. Additionally, this new system will save money by 
removing the costs of propane and live fire extinguishers currently required to teach this subject. The 
clean system also allows for indoor training, thus negating weather related interference.  The estimated 
cost for the simulator is $13,000.00.  

Budget Impact: The relevant stipulations of this grant would be up to 10% cost share to be paid by the 
City.  This would equate to approximately $1,300.00 if the Fire Department were awarded the total 
amount of funding requested. Fire Department Staff believe that this cost can be absorbed by the Fire 
Department’s annual budget which would require no additional allocation of funds.  

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: Resolution 2020-03 Requesting Approval to Apply for the 2020 Georgia Firefighter 
Standards and Training Council Fireworks Tax Grant.   



 
RESOLUTION 2020-03: A RESOLUTION REQUESTING APPROVAL TO APPLY FOR 

THE GEORGIA FIREFIGHTER STANDARDS AND TRAINING COUNCIL 
FIREWORKS TAX GRANT FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 
 

THAT WHEREAS, the Georgia Firefighter Standards and Training Council announce the 
availability of the Fireworks Tax Grant, which may be utilized to aid fire departments with needs 
associated with maintaining or improving a community’s Insurance Services Organization (ISO) 
Public Protection Classification (PPC); and   
 

WHEREAS, the Georgia Firefighter Standards and Training Council could award the City of 
Statesboro up to $13,000.00 with a ten percent (10%) cost share.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia in regular session assembled this 4th day of February, 2020 hereby authorizes the application 
for the 2020 Georgia Firefighter Standards and Training Council Fireworks Tax Grant. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the funding will be through the City of Statesboro Fire 

Department budget for expenditures from this grant. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute all 

documents related to the application of said grant. 
 
 

Adopted this 4th day of February, 2020. 
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
By: Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Robin Demshar Records Manager / Austin Hinkley Records Intern 
 
Date: January 28, 2020 
 
RE: February 4, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: OCGA 50-18-90, et. seq., known as the "Georgia Records Act" 
requires that all public records be retained for a specified period set out in an 
adopted records retention schedule, with such records only being destroyed if 
the holding period has been met as adopted by Council on April 18, 1995. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2020-04: A 
Resolution authorizing the destruction of certain Municipal Records 
 
Background: N/A 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed Resolution 2020-04 



























































 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Sharri Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: January 27, 2020 
 
RE: February 4, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Remedying codification error in Chapter 6 of City Code of 
Ordinances and setting fee for issuance of underage permits for Bars with 
Kitchens  
 
Recommendation: City adopt proposed codification and set issuance fee at 
$250 
 
Background: Mayor and Council approved rewrite of Chapter 6 on October 1, 
2019. Section 6-4(k) was inadvertently left out. Cross reference to said subsection 
was also erroneous. Fee was never set for issuance of relevant permit. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed Ordinance Revisions 



Resolution 2020-05: A Resolution adopting the proposed codification of Sec. 6-4 of the Statesboro Code 
of Ordinances and set issuance fee at $250.00. 

Section 6-4 

(k)    Underage Permit.  All licensees who hold a Bar with Kitchen Licnese and desire to allow Minor 
Persons under 21 Years of Age on their premises under Sec 6-9(2) and in accordance with O.C.G.A. 
3.3.24.1 shall be required to obtain an Under Age Permit. Application for Underage Permit may be made 
with license application, with license renewal or by separate application to the City Clerk. Only Mayor 
and Council shall have the authority to grant Underage Permits.  Such permit shall only be operative 
when premises is hosting a Live Musical Concert or Live Performing Arts Presentation. During all times 
that the Underage Permit is operative the kitchen must remain open, offering the full or a substantial 
menu during that time. At no time shall patrons under 21 be allowed to sit at alcohol dispensing station 
(bar). Events permitted under this subsection shall be limited to 12 events annually per licensed 
premises. Licensee shall furnish Statesboro City Clerk and Chief of the Statesboro Police Department or 
his/ her designees with notice of events being held pursuant to this subsection not less than ten (10) 
business days prior to event. 

Sec. 6-9. - Minors and persons under 21 years of age.  

In addition to the prohibitions set forth at O.C.G.A. §§ 3-3-23, 3-3-23.1, 3-3-24, and 3-3-24.1 as 
amended, which are hereby incorporated by reference herein, the following guidelines for license type 
shall apply: 

(1)Bars. No persons under 21 are allowed to enter, remain, or be employed Except for third-party 
outside vendors or other non-staff individuals who are on the premises for a limited duration and are 
being compensated to perform a specific task on the premises but are not regularly on the premises nor 
are on the premises to patronize the bar. Examples of such individuals include, but are not limited to, 
the following: construction workers, couriers, deliverymen, and handymen and repairmen. 

(2)Bars with kitchens. The prohibitions set forth in 6-9(1) shall apply unless licensee possesses an 
underage permit as stipulated in 6-4-(k), proper notice under referenced subsection has been made, and 
the kitchen is open serving a full or substantial menu of premises prepared meals. At such times, and in 
compliance with O.C.G.A. 3-3-24.1, the restriction in 6-9(1) shall not apply if a minor between 18 years 
and 20 years of age enters a bar with kitchen in order to attend a bona fide live musical concert or live 
performing arts presentation for which the minor has purchased a ticket. Tickets for such events may 
not be made available or sold at the premises at any time less than two hours prior to noticed start of 
event. During such events door personnel must use an ID scanner to verify the age of each patron, 
regardless of age, and must place wristbands on patrons 21 years or older. Alcoholic beverages served 
to non-minor patrons must be in a plastic, colored cup when Underage Permit is operative. 

(3)Event venues. No age restrictions during permitted hours of operation. 

(4)Low volume licensees. No age restrictions shall apply. 

(5)Pubs. No one under 18 shall be allowed in or to remain on premises after 10:00 p.m. without a parent 
or guardian. No one under 21 years of age shall be allowed to enter or remain on premises after the 
kitchen has stopped serving. Pubs may allow patrons over 18 years of age to enter and remain during 



live music concerts that continue past 10:00 p.m. if the kitchen remains open offering the full or 
substantial menu during that time. At no time shall patrons under 21 be allowed to sit at alcohol 
dispensing station (bar) unless accompanied by parent or guardian. There shall be no set time for a pub 
owner to close the kitchen nor does the closing time need to be consistent on a daily 
basis.(6)Restaurants. At no time shall patrons under 21 be allowed to sit at alcohol dispensing station 
(bar) unless accompanied by parent or guardian. No other age restrictions shall apply. 



 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
Date:  January 28, 2020 
 
RE:  GDOT Local Maintenance Improvement Grant Application 
 
Policy: Grant Application 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends approval of application of the GDOT Local Maintenance Improvement Grant. 
 
Background:  
Georgia Southern University seeks to extend Akins Boulevard from Veteran’s Memorial Parkway south 
through the “South Campus” to connect with the existing spur of Akins Boulevard that intersect with 
Lanier Drive.  In addition to serving the “South Campus” the extension of Akins Boulevard will allow for 
interconnectivity with Tormenta Way, which is currently under construction, providing a critical secondary 
point of access of the Old Register Tax Allocation District to Veteran’s Memorial Parkway. 
 
Recently the Georgia Department of Transportation has advised University staff and City staff that funding 
is available to aid in the construction of Akins Boulevard, however, this grant program is only available to 
local governments.  The University is currently performing necessary wetland mitigation work for this 
extension and has appropriated the funding necessary to provide the match required for grant funds 
required by GDOT.  Due to the unique nature of this project mutually serving both the University and the 
City, staff from both entities are currently in the process of preparing an intergovernmental agreement 
that will allow the two entities to partner on the construction of Akins Boulevard.  This agreement will be 
forthcoming. 
 
City staff seeks to submit application for this grant following execution of all necessary intergovernmental 
agreements between the City and University.  The University will provide all necessary matching funds. 
 
Budget Impact:  No matching funds pledged by the City of Statesboro 
 
Council Person and District: Venus Mack, District 3 
 
Attachments: Grant Application Resolution 
 



RESOLUTION #2020-06: 

 A Resolution approving application and further authorizing the Mayor to execute a Georgia 
Department of Transportation (GDOT) Local Maintenance & Improvement Grant (LMIG) application. 

THAT WHEREAS, the City is authorized to participate in the Georgia Department of Transportation Local 
Maintenance Improvement Grant Program; 

WHEREAS, the Program provides funding assistance for road improvement projects within the City of 
Statesboro for the benefit of the citizenry; 

WHEREAS, the Program requires that the City identify and demonstrate a qualifying transportation 
project and submit application in order to receive funding assistance for said project; 

WHEREAS, the Program application requires a minimum 30% local funding match which Georgia 
Southern University has committed the necessary funding for; and, 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. The City Manager recommends partnering with Georgia Southern University to 
construct Akins Boulevard, from Veteran’s Memorial Parkway to the terminus of Akins 
Boulevard extension which connects with Lanier Drive, and to submit application of Local 
Maintenance Improvement Grant funding for this project. 

Section 2. City Council hereby authorizes the Mayor to apply for Local Maintenance 
Improvement Grant funding and to execute the Local Government Affidavit and Certification 
and all other documents required by the Georgia Department of Transportation related to this 
grant application. 

Section 3. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

 

 

Adopted this 4th day of February, 2020. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

By:  ________________________                         Attest:  ______________________      
       Jonathan McCollar, Mayor                Leah Harden, City Clerk                                                 









RESOLUTION #2020-07: 

RESOLUTION ACCEPTING RIGHT OF WAY OF BETHANY WAY AS A PUBLIC STREET 
TO BE OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA. 
 

THAT WHEREAS, Bethany Assisted Living, Inc. dba Bethany Assisted Living of Statesboro is 
the owner of the street segment known as Bethany Way and wishes to convey said street to the 
City of Statesboro; and 

WHEREAS, with the planned growth of the surrounding area, the City believes it is in the best 
interest of the public for this road to be a public street, owned and maintained by the City;  

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. That Bethany Way is hereby formally accepted for dedication by the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as a public street and right-of-way to be owned and maintained by the City of Statesboro.  

Section 2. That this resolution authorize and direct the Mayor of the City of Statesboro, Georgia to accept 
the dedication of the above described property by virtue of a right of way deed. 

Section 3. All that certain, lot, tract or parcel of land lying, situate and being in the 1209th G.M.D., 
Bulloch County, Georgia, and in the City of Statesboro, containing 0.75 acre and being the proposed sixty 
(60’) foot public right-of-way as shown on a plat prepared by Donald W. Marsh, Surveyor, dated October 
17, 2014, and recorded in Plat Book 65, Page 597, Bulloch County Records. The above referenced plat 
and the description thereon are by reference incorporated herein for all purposes of this description. 

Section 4. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this _____ day of _____________, 2020. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA          

  

By:  ________________________                         Attest:  ______________________      
       Jonathan McCollar, Mayor                Leah Harden, City Clerk        
                  
 
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Sharri Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: January 27, 2020 
 
RE: February 4, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Amendment of Development Agreement with developerJGR 
concerning the placement of public infrastructure within the Old Register TAD 
and City reimbursement to developer for placement of said public infrastructure 
 
Recommendation: City adopt attached Development Agreement 
 
Background: On April 6, 2019, City Council approved a Development 
Agreement with JGR that allowed for two payments of $2,375,000 to reimburse 
JGR for public infrastructure placement. Attached Development Agreement 
allows for a third interim payment of $1,000,000 and clarifies the logistics of the 
public infrastructure. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Venus Mack, District 3 
 
Attachments: Proposed Development Agreement 



 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT 

Between City of Statesboro, Georgia 

 

and 

 

Developer 

 

For Old Register Tax Allocation District  

Public Infrastructure 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

- i - 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

 

ARTICLE 1 RECITALS................................................................................................................. 1 
ARTICLE 2 GENERAL TERMS ................................................................................................... 2 

Section 2.1 Definitions................................................................................................... 2 
Section 2.2 Singular and Plural ...................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE 3 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES .......................................................... 6 
Section 3.1 Representations and Warranties of Developer ............................................ 6 
Section 3.2 Representations and Warranties of  City .................................................... 8 
Section 3.3 Payment of Administrative Fee ................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

ARTICLE 4 DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION ............................................................. 9 
Section 4.1 Construction and Completion of the Public Infrastructure ......................... 9 
Section 4.2 Approvals Required for the Project .......................................................... 10 
Section 4.3 Unreasonable Delay or Abandonment; Cessation of Work ...................... 10 
Section 4.4 Material Modifications .............................................................................. 10 

ARTICLE 5 DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND SPECIAL COVENANTS OF 
DEVELOPER .......................................................................................................... 10 

Section 5.1 Completion of the Project ......................................................................... 10 
Section 5.2 Compliance with Documents .................................................................... 11 
Section 5.3 Litigation ................................................................................................... 11 
Section 5.4 Maintenance of the Project ....................................................................... 11 
Section 5.5 Records and Accounts ............................................................................... 11 
Section 5.6 Liens and Other Charges ........................................................................... 11 
Section 5.7 Compliance with Laws, Contracts, Licenses, and Permits ....................... 11 
Section 5.8 Laborers, Subcontractors and Materialmen .............................................. 11 
Section 5.9 Taxes ......................................................................................................... 12 
Section 5.10 Insurance ................................................................................................... 12 
Section 5.11 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments ....................................... 12 
Section 5.12 Performance by Developer ....................................................................... 12 
Section 5.13 Restrictions on Easements and Covenants ................................................ 12 
Section 5.14 Access to the Site ...................................................................................... 12 
Section 5.15 Delivery of Documents ............................................................................. 13 

 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

- ii - 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

ARTICLE 6 ; DISBURSEMENT; SPECIAL FUND; FINANCING ALTERNATIVES............ 13 
Section 6.1 Advances ................................................................................................... 13 
Section 6.2 Disbursements ........................................................................................... 13 
Section 6.3 Limited Liability ....................................................................................... 14 
Section 6.4 Special Fund.............................................................................................. 15 
Section 6.5 Alternative Financing................................................................................ 15 

ARTICLE 7 INDEMNIFICATION .............................................................................................. 15 
Section 7.1 Indemnification ......................................................................................... 15 
Section 7.2 Notice of Claim ......................................................................................... 15 
Section 7.3 Defense ..................................................................................................... 15 
Section 7.4 Separate Counsel ....................................................................................... 16 
Section 7.5 Survival ..................................................................................................... 16 

ARTICLE 8 DEFAULT ............................................................................................................... 16 
Section 8.1 Default by Developer ................................................................................ 16 
Section 8.2 Remedies ................................................................................................... 16 
Section 8.3 Remedies Cumulative ............................................................................... 17 
Section 8.4 Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses .................................... 17 
Section 8.5 Default by City .......................................................................................... 17 
Section 8.6 Remedies Against City ............................................................................. 17 

ARTICLE 9 MISCELLANEOUS ................................................................................................ 17 
Section 9.1 Term of Agreement; Survival ................................................................... 17 
Section 9.2 Notices ...................................................................................................... 17 
Section 9.3 Amendments and Waivers ........................................................................ 18 
Section 9.4 Invalidity ................................................................................................... 18 
Section 9.5 Successors and Assigns ............................................................................. 18 
Section 9.6 Schedules; Titles of Articles and Sections ................................................ 18 
Section 9.7 Applicable Law ......................................................................................... 19 
Section 9.8 Entire Agreement ...................................................................................... 19 
Section 9.9 Approval by the Parties ............................................................................. 19 
Section 9.10 Additional Actions .................................................................................... 19 

 



 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This Development Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of the ____ day of February, 
2020, is made by and between the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia, a municipal 
corporation in Bulloch County in the State of Georgia (the“City”), and BVT Akins LP, a limited 
partnership and J Edward Akins Farm, LP, a limited partnership, collectively, as developer, (the 
“Developer”).  Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meanings given 
to them in Article II or in the Redevelopment Plan, as appropriate. 

ARTICLE 1 
RECITALS 

WHEREAS, City is duly authorized to exercise the redevelopment powers granted to local 
governments in the State of Georgia pursuant to the Redevelopment Powers Law and in 
accordance with House Bill 795 enacted by the General Assembly in 2014 and approved in a  
referendum on November 4, 2014; and 

WHEREAS, by a Resolution duly adopted on August 7, 2018 (the “TAD Resolution”), 
following a public hearing as required by law, the Mayor and Council City  approved the Old 
Register Area Redevelopment Plan and created the Old Register Tax Allocation District (the 
“TAD”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a resolution adopted on August 7, 2018 the Bulloch County Board 
of Commissioners (“County”) gave the consent required under O.C.G.A. Sec. 36-44-8(1) and on 
August 9, 2018 the Bulloch County Board of Education (“School Board”) did the same; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the requirements of O.C.G.A. Sec. 36-44-10, City has timely 
applied to the Georgia Department of Revenue for certification of the tax allocation increment base 
for the TAD and received such; and 

WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Powers Law provides that City may enter into public-
private partnerships to accomplish the redevelopment projects contemplated in the Redevelopment 
Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the TAD Resolution expressed the intent of City, as set forth in the 
Redevelopment Plan, to provide funds to induce and stimulate redevelopment in the TAD; and 

WHEREAS, the undertakings contemplated by the Redevelopment Plan include, among 
other renewal activity, development of “Public Infrastructure”; and 

WHEREAS, Developer is the owner of certain real property located within the TAD; and 

WHEREAS, Developer seeks to undertake the installation of Public infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, in order to induce and further facilitate the successful accomplishment of this 
portion of the Redevelopment Plan, City has indicated its intent to exercise its authority under the 
Redevelopment Powers Law and in accordance with State law to enter into this Development 
Agreement with Developer, pursuant to which, subject to the conditions described herein, the Tax 



 

 

Allocation Increment collected in the TAD will be used to reimburse Developer for certain 
Redevelopment Costs advanced by Developer in connection with the Public Infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, Developer agrees, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, to undertake this 
critical revitalization in City and to develop the Public Infrastructure consistent with the 
Redevelopment Plan, which revitalization would not be economically feasible without the 
reimbursements being provided through the TAD as contemplated herein; and 

WHEREAS, Developer agrees to deed the Public Infrastructure on Developer’s property 
to City upon completion of construction and reimbursement. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW THEREFORE, City and Developer, for and in consideration of the mutual promises, 
covenants, obligations and benefits of this Agreement, hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 2 
GENERAL TERMS 

Section 2.1 Definitions.  Unless the context clearly requires a different meaning, the 
following terms are used herein with the following meanings: 

“Act of Bankruptcy” means the making of an assignment for the benefit of creditors, the 
filing of a petition in bankruptcy, the petitioning or application to any tribunal for any receiver or 
any trustee of the applicable Person or any substantial part of its property, the commencement of 
any proceeding relating to the applicable Person under any reorganization, arrangement, 
readjustments of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or statute of any jurisdiction, whether now or 
hereafter in effect, or if, within 60 days after the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the 
commencement of any proceeding against the applicable Person seeking any reorganization, 
arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under any 
present or future statute, law or regulation, the proceedings have not been dismissed, or, if, within 
60 days after the appointment, without the consent or acquiescence of the applicable Person, of 
any trustee, receiver or liquidator of the applicable Person or of the land owned by the applicable 
Person, the appointment has not been vacated. 

“Administrative Fee” means an annual administrative fee payable to City from the Special 
Fund as provided in Section 3.3, to reimburse City for actual and/or imputed administrative costs, 
including reasonable charges for the time spent by public employees or agents of City in 
connection with the management and accounting of the Special Fund, in the amount of 1% of 
Positive Tax Increment per year until all TAD bonds or other alternative financing instruments 
have been paid off and closed..  Such Administrative Fee shall not reduce or otherwise diminish 
the total Reimbursement Costs payable to Developer. 

“Advances” means advances by Developer or any other Person or entity to pay any costs 
that constitute Reimbursement Costs for which Developer may be entitled to reimbursement 
pursuant to Section 6.2. 



 

 

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, (a) a parent, partner, member or owner of 
such Person or of any Person identified in clause (b), and (b) any other Person that, directly or 
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common 
control with such Person.  As used in this definition, the term “control” means the possession, 
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies 
of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. 

“City” means Statesboro, Georgia, a municipal corporation in the State of Georgia. 

“City Manager” shall mean the appointed or interim Statesboro City Manager of any person 
that City Manager has indicated in writing to Developer to be his/ her designee for the purposes of 
this Agreement. 

 “Developer” means BVT Akins LP, a limited partnership and J Edward Akins Farm, LP, 
a limited partnership, developer of the Public Infrastructure. 

“Development Team” means Developer and its development partners. 

“Disbursements” means the funds deposited into the Special Fund available to Developer 
for reimbursement of Advances. 

 “Effective Date” means April 2, 2019, the effective date of this Agreement. 

“Environmental Laws” means, including but without limitation, the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. Sec.6901 et seq., as amended, the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 9601 et seq., as 
amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, and as further amended, 
the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. Sec. 1251 et seq., as amended, the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 
7401 et seq., as amended, the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. Sec. 2601 et seq., as 
amended, and any other applicable federal law relating to health, safety or the environment.   

 “Force Majeure” means any event or circumstance which is (a) beyond the reasonable 
control of the Person whose performance is required by this Agreement and (b) caused by fire, 
earthquake, flood, explosion, war, acts of terrorism, invasion, insurrection, mob violence, sabotage, 
lockouts, litigation, condemnation, riots or other civil disorder, national or local emergency, acts 
of God, unusual and unanticipated delays in transportation, unusual and unanticipated delays in 
obtaining lawful permits or consents to which the applicant is legally entitled, strike or labor 
dispute, severe weather conditions, or delays caused by City in excess of 30 days in responding to 
proposals for Material Modifications pursuant to Section 4.4.  Developer will give written notice 
in accordance with Section 9.2 as soon as reasonably practical after the start of the Force Majeure 
event or occurrence giving rise to the delay, specifically identifying the occurrence or event and 
the anticipated resulting delay to the Public Infrastructure.   

“General Contractor” means an experienced, licensed, bondable and reputable general 
contractor selected by Developer and reasonably satisfactory to City. 



 

 

“Hazardous Substances” means any hazardous or toxic substance or waste as defined by 
any applicable Environmental Laws, together with (if not so defined by any such Environmental 
Laws) petroleum, petroleum products, oil, PCBs, asbestos, and radon.   

“In-Service Date” means the placing in service of the Public Infrastructure and 
commencement of normal public operations thereof, as certified in writing by the Developer to 
City. 

“Legal Requirements” means any legal requirements (including, without limitation, 
Environmental Laws), including any local, state or federal statute, law, ordinance, rule or 
regulation, now or hereafter in effect, or order, judgment, decree, injunction, permit, license, 
authorization, certificate, franchise, approval, notice, demand, direction or determination of any 
governmental authority. 

“Loan Documents” means any agreement or instrument, other than this Agreement, to 
which Developer or any Affiliate thereof is a party or by which it is bound and that is executed in 
connection with any financing provided to or for the benefit of Developer in order to specifically 
finance all or any portion of the Public Infrastructure, and including any commitment or 
application for such financing and documents evidencing any Project Financing. 

“Material Modification” means a Project Modification that requires the prior written 
consent of City, i.e., any change in the Public Infrastructure that would cause it not to substantially 
conform to its description in the Redevelopment Plan. 

 “Person” includes a corporation, a trust, an association, a partnership (including a limited 
liability partnership), a joint venture, an unincorporated organization, a business, an individual or 
natural person, a joint stock company, a limited liability company, a public body, or any other 
entity. 

“Plans” means the Site Plan and the construction plans for the Public Infrastructure as the 
same may be modified from time to time, including any Material Modifications. 

“Project Approvals” means all approvals, consents, waivers, orders, agreements, 
authorizations, permits and licenses required under applicable Legal Requirements or under the 
terms of any restriction, covenant or easement affecting the Public Infrastructure , or otherwise 
necessary or desirable for the ownership, acquisition, construction, equipping, use or operation 
thereof, whether obtained from a governmental authority or any other person. 

“Project Financing” means any loans, financing, equity investment, or other agreement 
(other than this Agreement) provided to or for the benefit of Developer to finance, directly or 
indirectly, any portion of the Public Infrastructure. 

“Public Infrastructure” means those improvements identified and more fully described in 
the Redevelopment Plan, as such plan may be amended or modified from time to time, a portion 
of the costs of which are to be advanced by Developer and reimbursed to Developer from the 
Special Fund as contemplated by this Agreement. Public Infrastructure as contemplated in the 
Redevelopment Plan shall be modified so that the “Extension” shall intersect with Board of 
Regents’ proposed extension of Akins Boulevard. Developer shall coordinate with Board of 



 

 

Regents and City as to the appropriate point of intersection and extent of Extension construction. 
Developer shall complete Extension as far as is possible under the circumstances of Board of 
Regents’ Akins Road project. 

“Public Infrastructure Budget” means the projected hard and soft costs capitalizable under 
GAAP for acquisition, financing, and construction of the Public Infrastructure as set forth in 
Schedule D hereto, as such Schedule may be amended or modified from time to time.   

“Public Infrastructure Completion Date” means January 9, 2020 the anticipated date of 
substantial completion of the Public Infrastructure (as evidenced by delivery by Developer to City 
of the certificate contemplated in Section 4.1(e)).   

“Public Infrastructure Construction Schedule” means the estimated schedule for 
construction of the Public Infrastructure as set forth in Schedule C, as such Schedule may be 
amended or modified from time to time.   

 “Redevelopment Costs” has the meaning given that term by O.C.G.A. Sec. 36-44-3(8) and 
as used in this Agreement, means Redevelopment Costs of the TAD and any other Redevelopment 
Costs (as defined in the Redevelopment Powers Law) contemplated by this Agreement and 
provided for in the Redevelopment Plan. 

“Redevelopment Plan” means the Redevelopment Plan for the TAD approved by City 
pursuant to the TAD Resolution, following a public hearing as required by law, as may be amended 
from time to time. 

“Redevelopment Powers Law” means the Redevelopment Powers Law, O.C.G.A. Sec. 36-
44-1, et seq., as may be amended from time to time. 

“Reimbursement Costs” means the redevelopment costs authorized to be paid or 
reimbursed by the Redevelopment Plan.  

 “Requisition” means a requisition in substantially the form attached as Schedule E hereto 
(or such other form approved by City). 

“School Board” means the Board of Education of Bulloch County, Georgia. 

“Site” means the real property on which the Public Infrastructure will be located within the 
TAD, as more specifically identified in Schedule A-1 hereto. 

 “Special Fund” means the bank account established by City for the depositing of Tax 
Allocation Increment along with the proceeds of TAD revenue bonds obtained by the City and 
payment of Disbursements as permitted under this Agreement. 

“State” means the State of Georgia. 

“TAD” means that Old Register Tax Allocation District created by City effective August 
7, 2018, pursuant to the Redevelopment Powers Law and the TAD Resolution and as further 
described in the Redevelopment Plan. 



 

 

“TAD Bonds” means any source of financing the City receives and holds in Special Fund 
to reimburse Developer for construction and installation of Public Infrastructure 

 “TAD Resolution” has the meaning provided in the recitals above.  

“Tax Allocation Increment” means the positive tax allocation increment (within the 
meaning of the Redevelopment Powers Law) levied and collected on real and personal property 
within the TAD attributable to the ad valorem millage rate levied annually by City, County and 
School Board. 

Section 2.2 Singular and Plural.  Words used herein in the singular, where the context 
so permits, also include the plural and vice versa.  The definitions of words in the singular herein 
also apply to such words when used in the plural where the context so permits and vice versa. 

ARTICLE 3 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 3.1 Representations and Warranties of Developer.  Developer hereby 
represents and warrants to City that: 

(a) Organization and Authority.  Developer is in good standing and authorized to 
transact business in the State of Georgia as a domestic limited liability company.  
Developer’s officers have the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this 
Agreement, to incur and perform its obligations hereunder, and to carry out the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement. 

(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and 
proceedings by or on behalf of Developer, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, 
including any approval of or filing with any governmental authority, are required by or on 
behalf of Developer as a condition to the valid execution, delivery, and performance by it 
of this Agreement.  This Agreement, when duly executed and delivered by each party 
hereto, will be the valid, binding and enforceable obligation of Developer in accordance 
with its terms, subject to matters and laws affecting creditors’ right generally and to general 
principles of equity. 

(c) Organizational Documents.  Developer’s organizational documents are in full force 
and effect as of the Effective Date, and no fact or circumstance has occurred that, by itself 
or with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would constitute a default 
thereunder. 

(d) Bankruptcy.  No Act of Bankruptcy has occurred with respect to Developer. 

(e) No Litigation.  There is no action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge 
of Developer, threatened against or affecting Developer in any court, before any arbitrator 
or before or by any governmental body which (i) in any manner raises any question 
affecting the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, (ii) could materially and 
adversely affect the business, financial position or results of operations of Developer, or 



 

 

(iii) could materially and adversely affect the ability of Developer to perform its obligations 
hereunder. 

(f) No Undisclosed Liabilities.  Developer is not in default under or in breach of any 
material contract or agreement, and no event has occurred which, with the passage of time 
or giving of notice (or both) would constitute such a default, which has a material adverse 
effect on the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

(g) Principal Office.  The address of Developer’s principal place of business is 2704 
Old Register Rd, Statesboro Ga, 30458. 

(h) Licenses and Permits.  Developer will at all appropriate times possess all franchises, 
patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, licenses and permits, and rights in respect of 
the foregoing, adequate for the conduct of its business substantially as now conducted or 
as it is intended to be conducted with respect to the Public Infrastructure 

(i) Project Location.  The Public Infrastructure is located wholly within City and 
further, wholly within the boundaries of tax parcels 076 0000001 000, 002, 004, and 006, 
as such parcels are identified by the Board of Tax Assessors for Bulloch County, Georgia. 

(j) Utilities.  All utility services necessary and sufficient for the construction and 
operation of the Public Infrastructure will be obtained when needed and will at all 
appropriate times be available through dedicated public rights of way or through perpetual 
private easements. Developer shall be responsible for all utilities installation. 

(k) Plans.  Developer will furnish to City true and complete sets of the Plans.  The Plans 
so furnished to City will comply with all applicable governmental requirements, all Project 
Approvals, and all restrictions, covenants and easements affecting the Public Infrastructure. 

(l) Funding Sources for Project Financing.  Schedule G contains a true, correct, and 
completed list of all sources and uses of funds, including all Project Financing, all of which 
has been committed to Developer.   

(m) Liens.  Other than as to City, there are no material liens of record of laborers, 
subcontractors or materialmen on or respecting the Public Infrastructure on the Effective 
Date. Developer shall provide a signed notarized affidavit/form certifying there are no 
outstanding liens on Project to the City. 

(n) Construction Schedule.  The Public Infrastructure Construction Schedule is 
complete and accurately reflects the currently estimated schedule for construction of the 
Public Infrastructure. 

(o) Budget.  The Public Infrastructure Budget is complete and accurately reflects the 
currently estimated costs of the Public Infrastructure. 

(p) Title.  As of the Effective Date, Developer holds fee simple title to the Site. 



 

 

(q) Tax Allocation Increment.  Developer acknowledges that City has made no 
representation as to the amount of Tax Allocation Increment to be generated by the TAD 
and that Developer has had the opportunity to investigate and make its own conclusions as 
to the amount of Tax Allocation Increment to be generated by the TAD.  

(r) Special Services District Developer acknowledges that should Tax Allocation 
Increment be insufficient to pay for servicing the TAD Bonds that City shall create a special 
services tax district over the TAD. A Special Services District may be established before, 
during, and/or after construction and installation of the Public Infrastructure. Nothing in 
this Agreement shall limit the timing or number of times said District may be established, 
terminated, or reestablished by City. 

Section 3.2 Representations and Warranties of City.  City hereby represents and 
warrants to Developer that: 

(a) Organization and Authority.  City is a municipal corporation duly created and 
existing under the laws of the State.  City has the requisite power and authority to execute 
and deliver this Agreement, to incur and perform its obligations hereunder, and to carry 
out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and 
proceedings by or on behalf of City, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, 
including any approval of or filing with any governmental authority, are required by or on 
behalf of City as a condition to the valid execution, delivery, and performance by City of 
this Agreement.  This Agreement, when duly executed and delivered by each party hereto, 
will be the valid, binding and enforceable obligation of City in accordance with its terms, 
subject to matters and laws affecting creditors’ right generally as to political bodies and to 
general principles of equity. 

(c) No Litigation.  There are no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of any kind 
pending or threatened against City before any court, tribunal or administrative agency or 
board or any mediator or arbitrator that questions the validity of this Agreement or any 
action taken or to be taken pursuant hereto. 

(d) TAD Resolution.  The TAD Resolution has been validly adopted, remains in full 
force and effect, and has not been amended or supplemented since its date of adoption.  No 
amendment of or supplement to the TAD Resolution is contemplated by City. 

(e) Redevelopment Agent.  City has been duly designated as Redevelopment Agent for 
the TAD as contemplated by the Redevelopment Powers Law. 

(f) Recitals.  The Recitals in Article I of this Agreement relating to actions taken by 
public bodies are true and correct. 

(g) Redevelopment Plan and TAD.  The Redevelopment Plan and the TAD have been 
duly adopted and created, respectively, by City 



 

 

ARTICLE 4 
DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION 

Section 4.1 Construction, Completion, and Conveyance of the Public 
Infrastructure 

(a) Developer will use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and construct, or 
cause the development and construction of, the Public Infrastructure with diligence and 
good faith in a good and workmanlike manner and in substantial conformance with the 
Plans and the descriptions thereof set forth in Schedules A and B and in accordance with 
the Public Infrastructure Construction Schedule set forth in Schedule C, all subject to Force 
Majeure.  City acknowledges that during the term of this Agreement modifications to the 
Public Infrastructure as contemplated on the Effective Date may occur.  To the extent that 
such modifications are material but are not Material Modifications, Developer will provide 
a revised version of Schedule B or Schedule C, as appropriate, to City within fifteen (15) 
days, which will be used as the basis for reimbursement of Advances under Section 6.2.  
To the extent that any such modification is a Material Modification, Developer will comply 
with the procedures set forth in Section 4.4.  City agrees to use commercially reasonable 
efforts to assist Developer with the Public Infrastructure on the terms set forth in this 
Agreement to further the public purposes of the Redevelopment Plan and the 
Redevelopment Powers Law.  Without limitation, such cooperation shall include City’s 
enabling Developer to construct, have constructed, or pay for the construction of (as 
determined by Developer upon consultation with City) all elements of the Public 
Infrastructure that are or shall be public facilities or located on public property. 

(b) Developer will construct, or cause the construction of, the Public Infrastructure in 
accordance with all applicable Legal Requirements. 

(c) Beginning on the Effective Date and continuing until the Public Infrastructure 
Completion Date, on or before the last business day of every reporting month Developer 
will provide City a written update on the status and progress of the construction of the 
Public Infrastructure and the costs and expenses incurred in connection with it to date.  Said 
updates shall be provided by the Developer in the form of a written report in a format 
determined by Developer.  Additionally, if requested by City or, any such monthly update 
shall also be given in a telephone conference between the Darin Van Tassell and City 
Manager.    These reports and telephone conferences shall be in addition to and not as a 
substitute for any customary inspections or documents required by City in the usual course 
of issuing permits and inspecting construction of the Public Infrastructure.   

(d) Upon completion of the construction of the Public Infrastructure, Developer will 
provide City with a final cost summary of all costs and expenses associated with the Public 
Infrastructure, a certification that it has been completed, and evidence that all amounts 
owing to contractors and subcontractors have been paid in full evidenced by customary 
affidavits executed by such contractors.   



 

 

(e) Upon completion of the preceding subsection and review and approval of Public 
Infrastructure by City Staff, Developer shall convey the Site, all Public Infrastructure, 
necessary easements, and applicable rights of way to City. 

(f) Developer shall obtain a “completion bond” to ensure that installation of Public 
Infrastructure is completed in the event there is a termination of this agreement as 
contemplated in Section 4.3. City shall be listed as endorsee/ beneficiary of said completion 
bond. 

Section 4.2 Approvals Required for the Project.  Developer will obtain or cause to be 
obtained all necessary Project Approvals for the Public Infrastructure and will comply with all 
Legal Requirements of any governmental body regarding the use or condition of the Public 
Infrastructure. Developer may, however, contest any such Legal Requirement or Project Approval 
by an appropriate proceeding diligently prosecuted. City agrees to process zoning and permit 
applications in a prompt and timely manner in accordance with its normal rules and procedures. 

Section 4.3 Unreasonable Delay or Abandonment; Cessation of Work.  If City 
determines in its reasonable discretion that construction and/or installation the Public 
Infrastructure is delayed for reasons other than Force Majeure or market forces such that the Public 
Infrastructure will not be completed within 120 days of the Public Infrastructure Completion Date, 
as amended, then City may terminate this Agreement.  Prior to any such termination, City must 
give 60 days’ advance written notice to Developer and Developer must have failed to effect a cure 
within said 60-day notice period.  Upon termination of this Agreement as provided in this Section, 
none of the parties hereto will have any further rights, duties or obligations hereunder except that 
Developer shall convey the Public Infrastructure, the Site, necessary easements, and all associated 
rights of way to City for consideration of ten dollars ($10.00). 

Section 4.4 Material Modifications.  Prior to Developer making a Material 
Modification to the Public Infrastructure, Developer will submit the proposed modifications to the 
City Manager in writing for review.  Any such submission must clearly identify all changes, 
omissions and additions as compared to the previously approved description of the Public 
Infrastructure.  The City Manager, as soon as reasonably possible, will put the request for 
modification on a meeting agenda for City’s consideration. City will act on the requested 
modification within an amount of time that is reasonably required to consider the request.  In 
addition, to the extent any Material Modification requires an amendment to any portion of the 
Redevelopment Plan, City will have such amount of time as reasonably required to pursue any 
such amendment (including required approvals, if any).   

ARTICLE 5 
DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND SPECIAL COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER 

Section 5.1 Completion of the Project.  Subject to any delays for Force Majeure, 
notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement Developer will commence and complete 
construction of the Public Infrastructure substantially in accordance with Schedule C with 
diligence and in a good and workmanlike manner, free and clear of all liens and claims for 
materials supplied or for labor or services performed, or prohibited elsewhere that violate this 



 

 

Agreement (except inchoate construction liens) subject to any lawful protest in accordance with 
Section 5.6. 

Section 5.2 Compliance with Documents.  Prior to its compliance with the 
Performance Commitments set forth in Schedule I, Developer will remain in compliance with its 
obligations and covenants in the Loan Documents, if any,  pursuant to which amounts were loaned 
or otherwise made available to Developer to finance construction of the Public Infrastructure. 

Section 5.3 Litigation.  Developer will notify City in writing, within fifteen (15) 
business days of its having knowledge thereof, of any actual or pending litigation or adversarial 
proceeding in which a claim is made against Developer or against the Site or the Public 
Infrastructure in any case which Developer reasonably considers may impair Developer’s ability 
to perform its obligations under this Agreement, and of any judgment rendered against Developer 
in any such litigation or proceeding.  Prior to the expiration of the Performance Commitments set 
forth in Schedule I, Developer will notify City in writing and within fifteen (15) business days of 
any matter that Developer reasonably considers may result or does result in a material adverse 
change in the financial condition of Developer or in the financial condition or operation of the 
Public Infrastructure. 

Section 5.4 Maintenance of the Project.  Developer agrees that, for as long it has a 
real property interest in the Public Infrastructure, it will at its own expense (i) keep the Public 
Infrastructure, or cause it to be kept, in as reasonably safe condition in accordance with applicable 
Legal Requirements as its operations permit, and (ii) keep the Public Infrastructure in good repair 
and in good operating condition.  . 

Section 5.5 Records and Accounts.  Developer will keep true and accurate records and 
books of account in connection with the Public Infrastructure in which full, true and correct entries 
will be made on a consistent basis, in accordance with GAAP in all material aspects. 

Section 5.6 Liens and Other Charges.  Developer will duly pay and discharge, or 
cause to be paid and discharged, before the same become overdue all claims for labor, materials, 
or supplies that if unpaid might by law become a lien or charge upon the Public Infrastructure 
unless Developer is lawfully protesting the same, in which case Developer will provide a suitable 
“mechanics lien bond” to discharge such lien from the Public Infrastructure. 

Section 5.7 Compliance with Laws, Contracts, Licenses, and Permits.  Developer 
will comply in all material respects with (a) all applicable laws related to the Public Infrastructure, 
(b) all material agreements and instruments related to or regarding the Public Infrastructure by 
which it may be bound, (c) all restrictions, covenants and easements affecting the Public 
Infrastructure (d) all applicable decrees, orders and judgments related to or regarding the Public 
Infrastructure, and (e) all licenses and permits required by applicable laws and regulations for the 
ownership, use, or operation of the Public Infrastructure. 

Section 5.8 Laborers, Subcontractors and Materialmen.  On or before the end of 
each calendar quarter prior to the Public Infrastructure Completion Date, Developer will furnish 
to City, upon written request, affidavits listing all laborers, subcontractors, materialmen, and any 
other Persons who might or could claim statutory or common law liens and are furnishing or have 



 

 

furnished labor or material to the Public Infrastructure or any part thereof, together with affidavits, 
or other evidence satisfactory to City, showing that such parties have been paid all amounts then 
due for labor and materials furnished to the Public Infrastructure.  Upon certification of completion 
of the Public Infrastructure, Developer shall furnish to City final lien waivers from the General 
Contractor and all subcontractors and materialmen who provided goods or services in excess of 
$5000.00 to said projects.  Affidavits and other materials submitted pursuant to this section shall 
be deemed approved by City if Developer does not receive written disapproval from City within 
thirty (30) days from the submission thereof. 

Section 5.9 Taxes.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer will pay when due 
all taxes imposed upon or assessed against the Site and the Public Infrastructure or arising in 
respect of the use or possession thereof, and will provide to City, within ten days after a written 
request therefor, validated receipts showing the payment of such taxes when due.  Developer will 
have the right to appeal an assessment for ad valorem tax purposes. 

Section 5.10 Insurance.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer, or its Affiliates, 
will keep the Public Infrastructure continuously insured consistent with its normal operating 
policies and subject to its customary deductibles and limitations, but Developer may at any time 
elect to be self-insured.  Any such insurance maybe provided through blanket insurance policies 
covering one or more facilities owned or operated by Developer and through any combination of 
underlying and umbrella policies as Developer may select. 

Section 5.11 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments.  City and Developer 
agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be executed, 
acknowledged and delivered, such supplements and amendments hereto and such further 
instruments as may reasonably be required for carrying out the intention or facilitating the 
performance of this Agreement; provided that the rights of City and Developer hereunder and the 
ability of Developer to construct the Public Infrastructure are not impaired thereby. 

Section 5.12 Performance by Developer.  Developer will perform all acts to be 
performed by it hereunder and will refrain from taking or omitting to take any action that would 
materially violate Developer’s representations and warranties hereunder or render the same 
materially inaccurate as of the Effective Date and subsequent Requisition dates. 

Section 5.13 Restrictions on Easements and Covenants.  Except for Permitted 
Exceptions, Developer will not create or suffer to be created or to exist any easement, right of way, 
restriction, covenant, condition, license or other right in favor of any Person which adversely affect 
or might adversely affect the use of the Public Infrastructure, or any part thereof, without obtaining 
the prior approval of City (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld).  

Section 5.14 Access to the Site.  Prior to the In-service Date Developer will permit 
persons designated by City to access the Site and to discuss the progress and status of the Public 
Infrastructure with representatives of Developer, all in such detail and at such times as City may 
reasonably request.  All such access must be during normal business hours and in a manner that 
will not unreasonably interfere with construction activities of the Public Infrastructure or with 
Developer’s business operations generally 



 

 

Section 5.15 Delivery of Documents.  No later than five (5) business days prior to the 
Effective Date, Developer shall deliver to City the following: 

(a) Most recent plat of the Site; 

(b) Title Policy for the Public Infrastructure parcels, including any Permitted 
Exceptions;  

(c) Resolutions authorizing Developer to enter into this Agreement (see Section 3.1(b)); 
and 

(d) Certification of the good standing of Developer from the Georgia Secretary of State. 

On the Effective Date, and if applicable, Developer shall deliver to City information 
evidencing that Developer has obtained Project Financing and completion bond with City as 
additional endorsee.  

ARTICLE 6 
DISBURSEMENT; SPECIAL FUND; FINANCING ALTERNATIVES 

Section 6.1 Advances. 

(a) Developer shall may make or cause to be made Advances sufficient to fully install 
and construct all Public Infrastructure. 

(b) Developer may submit a Requisition to City for its review and approval for 
reimbursement for any such Advances in accordance with Section 6.2. 

Section 6.2 Disbursement.  Subject to substantial compliance by Developer with all of 
the material terms and conditions of this Agreement, the funds deposited into the Special Fund 
will be available for disbursement to Developer for reimbursement of Advances at such times and 
in such amounts as determined (“Disbursement”) in accordance with the following procedures: 

(a) Developer may submit a Requisition to City upon paid Advances totaling 
$2,375,000 (two million three hundred seventy five thousand dollars) toward construction 
and installation of the Public Infrastructure. Developer shall convey a fee simple interest 
in all rights of ways. 

(b) Developer may submit an additional Requisition to City upon paid Advances 
totaling $1,000,000 (one million dollars) toward construction and installation of the Public 
Infrastructure. Developer shall convey a fee simple interest in all rights of ways. 

(c) Upon the In-Service Date and delivery of the certification required by Section 
4.1(d), Developer will submit a Requisition to City.  The Requisition will include (i) the 
Public Infrastructure Budget and (ii) the Public Infrastructure Costs. The accuracy of the 
cost breakdown in the Requisition must be certified by Developer, and hard construction 
costs must be certified by the General Contractor.  The amount of the Requisition shall not 
exceed the Reimbursement Costs. 



 

 

(d) The Requisition must be accompanied by evidence reasonably satisfactory to City 
showing: 

(i) Copies of all bills or statements or canceled checks for any indirect or non-
construction expense for which the Disbursement is requested (other than land 
valuation as set forth on Schedule D); 

(ii) That all construction has been conducted substantially in accordance with 
the Plans (and all changes thereto approved by City or otherwise permitted pursuant 
to the terms hereof); and 

(iii) That there are no liens outstanding against the Public Infrastructure or the 
real property on which it is installed that are in violation of this Agreement. 

(e) The construction for which Reimbursement Costs are included in the Requisition 
must be reviewed and approved by City or its appointed consultant to verify the approval 
of the construction, the cost of completed construction, and compliance with this 
Agreement. 

(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in no event will Tax Allocation 
Increment applicable to periods after the first (1st) year after the In-Service year (the end 
of such period, the “Cutoff Date”) be used to satisfy outstanding balances due Developer, 
if any.  Disbursements due Developer under this Agreement will terminate upon the earlier 
to occur of (i) the satisfaction of all amounts due Developer including the aggregate of all 
Requisitions in an amount not to exceed Reimbursement Costs or (ii) the Cutoff Date. 

(g) In no event shall Disbursements to Developer exceed a sum total of $4,750,000 
(four million seven hundred and fifty thousand dollars), less amount of costs incurred by 
City relating to issuance and closing of TAD Bonds or other alternative financing. 

(h) In no event shall City make more than two Disbursements to Developer. 

(i) In no event shall City make any Disbursements to Developer prior to TAD Bond 
proceeds of a minimum of $2,375,000 being deposited into the Special Fund. 

Section 6.3 Limited Liability. 

(a) The payment of all Disbursements required by be paid by City under this 
Agreement shall be special or limited obligations of City payable only from the Special 
Fund.  City will have no liability to honor any Requisition except from amounts on deposit 
in the Special Fund. 

(b) To the extent permitted by State law, no director, officer, employee or agent of City 
will be personally responsible for any liability arising under or growing out of the 
Agreement. 



 

 

(c) City shall not be obligated to disburse any funds to any person under this 
Agreement other than as directed by Developer or as otherwise permitted under this 
Agreement. 

Section 6.4 Special Fund.  City will deposit the Tax Allocation Increment into the 
Special Fund as property tax payments are received. Any funds obtained from TAD bonds or other 
financing arrangements entered into by City shall also be deposited into the Special Fund 

Section 6.5 Alternative Financing.  Nothing in this Agreement will limit the right of 
City and Developer to consider alternative methods of financing or refinancing Reimbursement 
Costs, including, without limitation, the issuance of TAD Bonds, so long as such financing does 
not have a detrimental effect on the Public Infrastructure. 

ARTICLE 7 
INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 7.1 Indemnification.  Developer will defend, indemnify, and hold City and its 
agents, employees, officers, and legal representatives (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”) 
harmless for all claims, causes of action, liabilities, fines, and expenses (including, without 
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs, and all other defense costs and interest) 
(collectively, the “Losses”) for injury, death, damage, or loss to persons or property sustained in 
connection with or incidental to the construction of the Public Infrastructure and, to the extent 
caused by construction of other elements of the Public Infrastructure pursuant to a construction 
contract directly between the contractor and the Developer, sustained in connection with the 
construction of such elements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article, (1) 
Developer’s indemnification obligation under this Article is limited to the policy limits available 
under the insurance policies required under Section 5.10; (2) Developer will not be obligated to 
indemnify any Indemnified Person for the Indemnified Person’s own negligence, recklessness or 
intentional act or omission; and (3) Developer will not be obligated to indemnify any Indemnified 
Persons to the extent that any claims that might otherwise be subject to indemnification hereunder 
resulted, in whole or in part, from the gross negligence, recklessness or intentional act or omission 
of any other Indemnified Person or Persons. 

Section 7.2 Notice of Claim.  If an Indemnified Person receives notice of any claim or 
circumstance which could give rise to indemnified Losses, the receiving party must give written 
notice to Developer within ten (10) business days.  The notice must include a description of the 
indemnification event in reasonable detail, the basis on which indemnification may be due, and 
the anticipated amount of the indemnified Losses.  If an Indemnified Person does not provide this 
notice within the ten-business-day period, it does not waive any right to indemnification except to 
the extent that Developer is prejudiced, suffers loss, or incurs expense because of the delay. 

Section 7.3 Defense.  Developer may assume and control the defense of the claim based 
on the indemnified Losses at its own expense with counsel chosen by Developer with the 
concurrence of the Indemnified Person.  In such case, Developer will also control any negotiations 
to settle the claim.  Within ten (10) business days after receiving written notice of the 
indemnification request, Developer will advise the Indemnified Person as to whether or not it will 



 

 

defend the claim.  If Developer does not assume the defense, the Indemnified Person will assume 
and control the defense and all defense expenses actually incurred by it will constitute Losses. 

Section 7.4 Separate Counsel.  If Developer elects to defend a claim, the Indemnified 
Person may retain separate counsel, at the sole cost and expense of such Indemnified Person, to 
participate in (but not control or impair) the defense and to participate in (but not control or impair) 
any settlement negotiations.  Developer may settle the claim without the consent or agreement of 
the Indemnified Person, unless the settlement (i) would result in injunctive relief or other equitable 
remedies or otherwise require the Indemnified Person to comply with restrictions or limitations 
that materially and adversely affect the Indemnified Person, (ii) would require the Indemnified 
Person to pay amounts that Developer does not fund in full, or (iii) would not result in the 
Indemnified Person’s full and complete release from all liability to the plaintiffs or claimants who 
are parties to or otherwise bound by the settlement. 

Section 7.5 Survival.  The provisions of Article VII will remain in effect until the 
expiration of one (1) years after certification of completion of the Public Infrastructure  

ARTICLE 8 
DEFAULT 

Section 8.1 Default by Developer.   

(a) The following will constitute a “Default” by Developer:    

(i) Failure of Developer to materially and timely comply with and perform any 
of its covenants, conditions or obligations set forth in this Agreement; 

(ii) The declaration of an “event of default” by any lender under any Loan 
Documents, if any, with respect to Project Financing or a breach of Section 5.2;  

(iii) An Act of Bankruptcy of Developer; 

(iv) Any material representation or warranty made by Developer in this 
Agreement or subsequently made by it in any written statement or document 
furnished to City and related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is 
false, inaccurate or fraudulent in any material respect as of the date such 
representation or warranty is made; and 

(v) Any material report, certificate or other document or instrument furnished 
to City by Developer in relation to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
is false, inaccurate or misleading in any material respect; or if any report, certificate 
or other document furnished to City on behalf of Developer, to the extent that 
Developer knows such document is false, inaccurate or misleading and fails to 
promptly report such discrepancy to City. 

Section 8.2 Remedies.  If a Default by Developer occurs and is continuing 60 days after 
receipt of written notice to Developer from City specifying the existence of such Default (or within 
a reasonable time thereafter if such Default cannot reasonably be cured within such 60-day period 



 

 

and Developer begins to diligently pursue the cure of such Default within such 60-day period), the 
Default will become an “Event of Default,” and City will be entitled to elect any or all of the 
following remedies: (i) terminate this Agreement and discontinue further funding hereunder, (ii) 
seek any remedy at law or in equity that may be available as a consequence of Developer’s default; 
(iii) pursue specific performance of this Agreement or injunctive relief; or (iv) waive such Event 
of Default.  Upon termination of this Agreement as provided in this Section, none of the parties 
hereto will have any further rights, duties or obligations hereunder. 

Section 8.3 Remedies Cumulative.  Except as otherwise specifically provided, all 
remedies of the parties provided for herein are cumulative and will be in addition to any and all 
other rights and remedies provided for or available hereunder, at law or in equity. 

Section 8.4 Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.  In the event of an 
Event of Default by Developer, if City employs attorneys or incurs other expenses for the 
collection of amounts due hereunder or for the enforcement of the performance or observance of 
any covenants or agreements on the part of Developer contained herein, Developer agrees that it 
will on demand therefor pay to City, as applicable, the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such 
other reasonable expenses so incurred by City, the amount of such fees of attorneys to be without 
regard to any statutory presumption. 

Section 8.5 Default by City.  The following will constitute a “Default” by City:  Any 
material breach by it of any representation made in this Agreement or any material failure by it to 
observe and perform any covenant, condition or agreement on its part to be observed or performed 
hereunder, for a period of 60 days after written notice specifying such breach or failure and 
requesting that it be remedied, given to it by Developer; provided that in the event such breach or 
failure can be corrected but cannot be corrected within said 60-day period, the same will not 
constitute a default hereunder if corrective action is instituted by the defaulting party or on behalf 
of the defaulting party within said 30-day period and is being diligently pursued. 

Section 8.6 Remedies Against City.  Upon the occurrence and continuance of a Default 
by City hereunder, Developer may seek any remedies available at law or in equity and may assert 
a claim for attorney’s fees, reasonable expenses and actual costs. 

ARTICLE 9 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.1 Term of Agreement; Survival.  This Agreement will commence on the 
Effective Date and will expire on the earlier to occur of the date on which all Reimbursement Costs 
have been fully reimbursed to Developer from the Special Fund or one (1) year after the In-Service 
Date. 

Section 9.2 Notices.  Any notice sent under this Agreement (except as otherwise 
expressly required) must be written and mailed or sent by overnight courier or personally delivered 
to an officer of the receiving party at the following addresses: 

If to Developer: 

Darin Van Tassell 



 

 

2704 Old Register Rd 

Statesboro, Ga 30458 

If to City: 

Statesboro City Manager 

50 E Main St 

Statesboro Georgia  30458 

With a copy to: City Attorney at same address 

Each party may change its address by written notice in accordance with this Section.  Any 
communication addressed and mailed in accordance with this Section will be deemed to be given 
when so mailed, and any communication so delivered in person will be deemed to be given when 
receipted for by, or actually received by the party identified above. 

Section 9.3 Amendments and Waivers.  Any provision of this Agreement may be 
amended or waived if such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the parties hereto.  
No course of dealing on the part of any party to this Agreement, nor any failure or delay by any 
party to this Agreement with respect to exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder will 
operate as a waiver thereof. 

Section 9.4 Invalidity.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held 
unenforceable in any respect, such unenforceability will not affect any other provision of this 
Agreement. 

Section 9.5 Successors and Assigns.  Prior to the In-Service Date, Developer may not 
assign this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder or any interest herein without the prior written 
consent of City, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; 
provided that Developer may, without the prior consent of City, assign this Agreement and all or 
any portion of its rights hereunder and interests herein (i) to any Affiliate of it or to any entity 
which controls, is controlled by or under common control with it; (ii) to any purchaser of all of 
substantially all of the assets or stock of Developer or ; or (iii) to any lender providing financing 
for all or any part of the Public Infrastructure.  After the In-Service Date, Developer may assign 
this Agreement and all or any portion of its rights hereunder and interests herein.  Developer will 
provide written notice to City of any assignment.  Upon any such assignment of the obligations of 
Developer hereunder, Developer will be deemed released from such obligations.  Notwithstanding 
the above, Developer may collaterally assign this Agreement and its rights hereunder and interest 
herein, without the consent of City, to a lender to secure financing or development of the Public 
Infrastructure. 

Section 9.6 Schedules; Titles of Articles and Sections.  The Schedules attached to this 
Agreement are incorporated herein and will be considered a part of this Agreement for the purposes 
stated herein, except that in the event of any conflict between any of the provisions of such 
Schedules and the provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement will prevail.  All 



 

 

titles or headings are only for the convenience of the parties and may not be construed to have any 
effect or meaning as to the agreement between the parties hereto.  Any reference herein to a Section 
or subsection will be considered a reference to such Section or subsection of this Agreement unless 
otherwise stated.  Any reference herein to a Schedule will be considered a reference to the 
applicable Schedule attached hereto unless otherwise stated. 

Section 9.7 Applicable Law.  This Agreement is a contract made under and will be 
construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the United States of America and the 
State of Georgia.  Venue for any legal action resulting from this Agreement shall be in the court 
of appropriate jurisdiction in Bulloch County. 

Section 9.8 Entire Agreement.  This written agreement represents the final agreement 
between the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or 
subsequent oral agreements of the parties.  There are no unwritten oral agreements between the 
parties. 

Section 9.9 Approval by the Parties.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits 
approval or consent to be hereafter given by any of the parties, the parties agree that such approval 
or consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and will be deemed given 
if no written objection is delivered to the requesting party within ten (10) business days after 
delivery of the request to the approving party. 

Section 9.10 Additional Actions.  The parties agree to take such actions, including the 
execution and delivery of such documents, instruments, petitions and certifications as may be 
necessary or appropriate, from time to time, to carry out the terms, provisions and intent of this 
Agreement and to aid and assist each other in carrying out said terms, provisions and intent. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be duly 
executed as of the day and year first written above. 

(Signatures on following pages) 



 

 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
__________________________________ 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Attested by Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 

 
J Edward Akins Farm, LP 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Philip Michel, General Partner 
 
 
BVT Akins, LP 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Darin Van Tassell, General Partner 



 

 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

SCHEDULES 

A Site Description 

B ___ Public Infrastructure Description 

C ___ Public Infrastructure Construction Schedule 

D ___ Public Infrastructure Budget  

E Form of Requisition 

F Intentionally Omitted 

G Source and Uses Statement 

H Intentionally Omitted 

I Performance Commitments 



 

A-1-1 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 



 

B-2-1 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 



 

C-1-1 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 



 

D-2-1 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

SCHEDULE D 
 

PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT BUDGET  

 

 

Land acquisition  

Sitework/Foundation  

Infrastructure  

Construction services, architectural, engineering, civil design  

Environmental and permitting  

  

Total $______.00 

 

Note: Amounts may be adjusted within each category.  The total budget may be 
adjusted or increased or decreased in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 



 

E-1 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

SCHEDULE E 
 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

OLD REGISTER TAX ALLOCATION DISTRICT  

Requisition No. __ 

Date of Requisition:  __________ ___, 20__. 

TO: 
 
 
 
Attention:   
Facsimile: 

PROJECT: 
Public Infrastructure 

DEVELOPER: 
 

Application is made for payment of amounts on deposit in the Special Fund to pay for 
Reimbursement Costs in the amount, for the purposes and on the terms set forth below, all in 
accordance with the provisions of that certain Development Agreement between City and the 
Developer named above, dated as of ________________, 201_.  All capitalized terms used herein 
not otherwise defined shall have the meaning given them in the Development Agreement. 

As of the date of this Requisition No. ___, outstanding Requisition amounts and accrued interest 
thereon is $__________ (the “Outstanding Balance”) as detailed below: 

Requisition 
No. 

Date 
Approved 

Amount of 
Requisition 

Amounts 
Paid to Date 

Balance 
Unpaid 

Total 
Amount Due 

      

      

      

      

      

AIA Form G-702 and its Continuation Sheet, AIA Document G-703, are attached as Exhibit A and 
are made a part of this Requisition.  Architect’s and Contractor’s Certificates for Payment are 
attached as part of the attached AIA Form G-702. 



 

E-2 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

1. The Public Infrastructure Budget is $___________ and the Public Infrastructure costs, 
Schedule of Values and Percentages of Completion are as set forth on Forms G-702 and 
G-703 attached. 

2. Total amount requested:  $_____________________. 

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit B are: 

a. Copies of all bills or statements or cancelled checks for any indirect or soft-cost 
expense for which this Requisition is requested; 

b. Copies of all bills or statements or cancelled checks for any such hard cost expenses 
incurred by the Developer for which this Requisition is requested; 

c. To the extent applicable, a copy of a satisfactory “Interim Waiver and Release Upon 
Payment” pursuant to O.C.G.A. Sec. 44-14-366 from the General Contractor which 
received payment from the proceeds of the immediately preceding Requisition; and 

DEVELOPER’S CERTIFICATIONS 

In accordance with the Development Agreement, Developer certifies to City that: 

i. all of its representations and warranties made in and as of the date of the 
Development Agreement were true and correct as of the effective date thereof; 

ii. the construction of the Public Infrastructure is in accordance with the Plans and the 
Development Agreement; 

iii. the Project Cost breakdown referenced in this Requisition is accurate; 

iv. all amounts being reimbursed for stored materials are and will be stored in either 
(a) a bonded warehouse approved by City and accessible to inspection by 
representatives of City, or (b) stored in a locked and otherwise secure storage 
arrangement acceptable to City and insured in an amount acceptable to City; 

v. no amounts are requested for materials to be stored more than 150 days before being 
used for the Public Infrastructure; 

vi. no payment under this Requisition exceeds the maximum allowable non-
construction expenses actually incurred within the amounts set forth in the Public 
Infrastructure Budget, plus the lesser of (a) the actual cost of the completed portion 
of the Public Infrastructure or (b) the scheduled value of each completed portion of 
the Public Infrastructure as set forth in the Schedule of Values attached hereto; 

vii. all payments requested under this Requisition are for Public Infrastructure items 
(i) which are of a quality and construction acceptable under this Agreement and 
(ii) which have not been previously paid; 



 

E-3 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

viii. there are no liens outstanding against the site of the Public Infrastructure except 
(i) inchoate liens for property taxes not yet due and payable, (ii) liens being 
contested in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in applicable law 
and (iii) liens consented to by City or otherwise not prohibited by the Development 
Agreement; 

ix. Developer is not in default under the Development Agreement; and 

x. no governmental body has lawfully issued the equivalent of a stop order with 
respect to any portion of the Public Infrastructure 

Submitted by: 

DEVELOPER 

By:  
Its:   

 

Approved: 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

By:  
Its:  

 



 

G-1 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

SCHEDULE G 
 

SOURCES AND USES STATEMENT 

Sources are from internal/external sources, debt or equity financing. 

Uses are as described in the Development Agreement. 



 

I-1 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

                         Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
   
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Mayor and City Council 
 
From:  Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
Date:  1/30/2020 
 
RE:  Boards and Commissions Vacancies 
 
Policy Issue:  Vacancies: 1) Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Board 3 
Vacancies 2) Statesboro Tree Board – 3 Vacancies 3) Statesboro Beautification 
Commission – 4 Vacancies 
 
Recommendation: Send out nominations to fill vacancy(ies) 
 
Background:  
Sec. 2-36. - Appointment.  

(c)Body chairperson shall notify the city clerk of any vacancy or pending 
vacancy of a seat over which the city has appointment powers.(d)At next 
regularly scheduled council meeting city clerk shall notify mayor and council of 
the vacancy during department head reports. If public applications are 
required or requested such announcement shall be made at this time.(e)Mayor 
and council shall send any nominations to fill vacancy(ies) to city clerk via email 
prior to the next regular meeting of mayor and council.(f)City clerk shall 
produce a list of nominees and/or applications to be presented to mayor and 
council for consideration during executive session.(g)Vacancy shall be 
discussed in executive session upon motion to do so.(h)Any action taken by 
mayor and council as a result of the executive discussion, including but not 
limited to appointment of body member(s), shall be made in open session of the 
meeting. 
 
Budget Impact:   
None 

Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
 


	02-04--2020 Council Agenda
	02-04 Arbor Day Council Memo Proclamation 2020
	2020 Arbor Day Proclamation
	02-04 GFOA Distinguished Budget Memo
	01-21-2020 Work Session Minutes
	01-21-2020 Council Minuets
	02-04 A-G8 Stop 1
	02-04 B-G8 Stop 2
	02-04 C-Bull & Barrel
	02-04 D-Southern Pony
	02-04 E-Patterson's Station 67
	02-04 F-AMC Statesboro 12
	02-04 GFSTC Fireworks Grant Memo
	02-04 Grant Application Resolution for 2020 GFSTC Fireworks Grant
	02-04 Memo resolution 2020-04
	02-04 Resolution 2020-04 Records Destruction
	02-04 Underage permit memo
	02-04 underage permit Resolution
	02-04 Akins Blvd GDOT LMIG Memo
	02-04 Akins Blvd GDOT LMIG Resolution
	02-04 Bethany Way Dedication Packet
	02-04 Bethany Way Dedication Resolution
	RESOLUTION ACCEPTING RIGHT OF WAY OF BETHANY WAY AS A PUBLIC STREET TO BE OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA.

	02-04 Memp 3 payment DA JGR
	02-04 Agreement 3 payment DA with JGR
	ARTICLE 1  RECITALS
	ARTICLE 2  GENERAL TERMS
	Section 2.1 Definitions.  Unless the context clearly requires a different meaning, the following terms are used herein with the following meanings:
	Section 2.2 Singular and Plural.  Words used herein in the singular, where the context so permits, also include the plural and vice versa.  The definitions of words in the singular herein also apply to such words when used in the plural where the cont...

	ARTICLE 3  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
	Section 3.1 Representations and Warranties of Developer.  Developer hereby represents and warrants to City that:
	(a) Organization and Authority.  Developer is in good standing and authorized to transact business in the State of Georgia as a domestic limited liability company.  Developer’s officers have the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver thi...
	(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and proceedings by or on behalf of Developer, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, ...
	(c) Organizational Documents.  Developer’s organizational documents are in full force and effect as of the Effective Date, and no fact or circumstance has occurred that, by itself or with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would cons...
	(d) Bankruptcy.  No Act of Bankruptcy has occurred with respect to Developer.
	(e) No Litigation.  There is no action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Developer, threatened against or affecting Developer in any court, before any arbitrator or before or by any governmental body which (i) in any manner raises an...
	(f) No Undisclosed Liabilities.  Developer is not in default under or in breach of any material contract or agreement, and no event has occurred which, with the passage of time or giving of notice (or both) would constitute such a default, which has a...
	(g) Principal Office.  The address of Developer’s principal place of business is 2704 Old Register Rd, Statesboro Ga, 30458.
	(h) Licenses and Permits.  Developer will at all appropriate times possess all franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, licenses and permits, and rights in respect of the foregoing, adequate for the conduct of its business substantial...
	(i) Project Location.  The Public Infrastructure is located wholly within City and further, wholly within the boundaries of tax parcels 076 0000001 000, 002, 004, and 006, as such parcels are identified by the Board of Tax Assessors for Bulloch County...
	(j) Utilities.  All utility services necessary and sufficient for the construction and operation of the Public Infrastructure will be obtained when needed and will at all appropriate times be available through dedicated public rights of way or through...
	(k) Plans.  Developer will furnish to City true and complete sets of the Plans.  The Plans so furnished to City will comply with all applicable governmental requirements, all Project Approvals, and all restrictions, covenants and easements affecting t...
	(l) Funding Sources for Project Financing.  Schedule G contains a true, correct, and completed list of all sources and uses of funds, including all Project Financing, all of which has been committed to Developer.
	(m) Liens.  Other than as to City, there are no material liens of record of laborers, subcontractors or materialmen on or respecting the Public Infrastructure on the Effective Date. Developer shall provide a signed notarized affidavit/form certifying ...
	(n) Construction Schedule.  The Public Infrastructure Construction Schedule is complete and accurately reflects the currently estimated schedule for construction of the Public Infrastructure.
	(o) Budget.  The Public Infrastructure Budget is complete and accurately reflects the currently estimated costs of the Public Infrastructure.
	(p) Title.  As of the Effective Date, Developer holds fee simple title to the Site.
	(q) Tax Allocation Increment.  Developer acknowledges that City has made no representation as to the amount of Tax Allocation Increment to be generated by the TAD and that Developer has had the opportunity to investigate and make its own conclusions a...
	(r) Special Services District Developer acknowledges that should Tax Allocation Increment be insufficient to pay for servicing the TAD Bonds that City shall create a special services tax district over the TAD. A Special Services District may be establ...

	Section 3.2 Representations and Warranties of City.  City hereby represents and warrants to Developer that:
	(a) Organization and Authority.  City is a municipal corporation duly created and existing under the laws of the State.  City has the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to incur and perform its obligations hereunder, ...
	(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and proceedings by or on behalf of City, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, inclu...
	(c) No Litigation.  There are no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of any kind pending or threatened against City before any court, tribunal or administrative agency or board or any mediator or arbitrator that questions the validity of thi...
	(d) TAD Resolution.  The TAD Resolution has been validly adopted, remains in full force and effect, and has not been amended or supplemented since its date of adoption.  No amendment of or supplement to the TAD Resolution is contemplated by City.
	(e) Redevelopment Agent.  City has been duly designated as Redevelopment Agent for the TAD as contemplated by the Redevelopment Powers Law.
	(f) Recitals.  The Recitals in Article I of this Agreement relating to actions taken by public bodies are true and correct.
	(g) Redevelopment Plan and TAD.  The Redevelopment Plan and the TAD have been duly adopted and created, respectively, by City


	ARTICLE 4  DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION
	Section 4.1 Construction, Completion, and Conveyance of the Public Infrastructure
	(a) Developer will use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and construct, or cause the development and construction of, the Public Infrastructure with diligence and good faith in a good and workmanlike manner and in substantial conformance with...
	(b) Developer will construct, or cause the construction of, the Public Infrastructure in accordance with all applicable Legal Requirements.
	(c) Beginning on the Effective Date and continuing until the Public Infrastructure Completion Date, on or before the last business day of every reporting month Developer will provide City a written update on the status and progress of the construction...
	(d) Upon completion of the construction of the Public Infrastructure, Developer will provide City with a final cost summary of all costs and expenses associated with the Public Infrastructure, a certification that it has been completed, and evidence t...
	(e) Upon completion of the preceding subsection and review and approval of Public Infrastructure by City Staff, Developer shall convey the Site, all Public Infrastructure, necessary easements, and applicable rights of way to City.
	(f) Developer shall obtain a “completion bond” to ensure that installation of Public Infrastructure is completed in the event there is a termination of this agreement as contemplated in Section 4.3. City shall be listed as endorsee/ beneficiary of sai...

	Section 4.2 Approvals Required for the Project.  Developer will obtain or cause to be obtained all necessary Project Approvals for the Public Infrastructure and will comply with all Legal Requirements of any governmental body regarding the use or cond...
	Section 4.3 Unreasonable Delay or Abandonment; Cessation of Work.  If City determines in its reasonable discretion that construction and/or installation the Public Infrastructure is delayed for reasons other than Force Majeure or market forces such th...
	Section 4.4 Material Modifications.  Prior to Developer making a Material Modification to the Public Infrastructure, Developer will submit the proposed modifications to the City Manager in writing for review.  Any such submission must clearly identify...

	ARTICLE 5  DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND SPECIAL COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER
	Section 5.1 Completion of the Project.  Subject to any delays for Force Majeure, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement Developer will commence and complete construction of the Public Infrastructure substantially in accordance with Sche...
	Section 5.2 Compliance with Documents.  Prior to its compliance with the Performance Commitments set forth in Schedule I, Developer will remain in compliance with its obligations and covenants in the Loan Documents, if any,  pursuant to which amounts ...
	Section 5.3 Litigation.  Developer will notify City in writing, within fifteen (15) business days of its having knowledge thereof, of any actual or pending litigation or adversarial proceeding in which a claim is made against Developer or against the ...
	Section 5.4 Maintenance of the Project.  Developer agrees that, for as long it has a real property interest in the Public Infrastructure, it will at its own expense (i) keep the Public Infrastructure, or cause it to be kept, in as reasonably safe cond...
	Section 5.5 Records and Accounts.  Developer will keep true and accurate records and books of account in connection with the Public Infrastructure in which full, true and correct entries will be made on a consistent basis, in accordance with GAAP in a...
	Section 5.6 Liens and Other Charges.  Developer will duly pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and discharged, before the same become overdue all claims for labor, materials, or supplies that if unpaid might by law become a lien or charge upon the P...
	Section 5.7 Compliance with Laws, Contracts, Licenses, and Permits.  Developer will comply in all material respects with (a) all applicable laws related to the Public Infrastructure, (b) all material agreements and instruments related to or regarding ...
	Section 5.8 Laborers, Subcontractors and Materialmen.  On or before the end of each calendar quarter prior to the Public Infrastructure Completion Date, Developer will furnish to City, upon written request, affidavits listing all laborers, subcontract...
	Section 5.9 Taxes.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer will pay when due all taxes imposed upon or assessed against the Site and the Public Infrastructure or arising in respect of the use or possession thereof, and will provide to City, ...
	Section 5.10 Insurance.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer, or its Affiliates, will keep the Public Infrastructure continuously insured consistent with its normal operating policies and subject to its customary deductibles and limitatio...
	Section 5.11 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments.  City and Developer agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements and amendments hereto and ...
	Section 5.12 Performance by Developer.  Developer will perform all acts to be performed by it hereunder and will refrain from taking or omitting to take any action that would materially violate Developer’s representations and warranties hereunder or r...
	Section 5.13 Restrictions on Easements and Covenants.  Except for Permitted Exceptions, Developer will not create or suffer to be created or to exist any easement, right of way, restriction, covenant, condition, license or other right in favor of any ...
	Section 5.14 Access to the Site.  Prior to the In-service Date Developer will permit persons designated by City to access the Site and to discuss the progress and status of the Public Infrastructure with representatives of Developer, all in such detai...
	Section 5.15 Delivery of Documents.  No later than five (5) business days prior to the Effective Date, Developer shall deliver to City the following:
	(a) Most recent plat of the Site;
	(b) Title Policy for the Public Infrastructure parcels, including any Permitted Exceptions;
	(c) Resolutions authorizing Developer to enter into this Agreement (see Section 3.1(b)); and
	(d) Certification of the good standing of Developer from the Georgia Secretary of State.


	ARTICLE 6  DISBURSEMENT; SPECIAL FUND; FINANCING ALTERNATIVES
	Section 6.1 Advances.
	(a) Developer shall may make or cause to be made Advances sufficient to fully install and construct all Public Infrastructure.
	(b) Developer may submit a Requisition to City for its review and approval for reimbursement for any such Advances in accordance with Section 6.2.

	Section 6.2 Disbursement.  Subject to substantial compliance by Developer with all of the material terms and conditions of this Agreement, the funds deposited into the Special Fund will be available for disbursement to Developer for reimbursement of A...
	(a) Developer may submit a Requisition to City upon paid Advances totaling $2,375,000 (two million three hundred seventy five thousand dollars) toward construction and installation of the Public Infrastructure. Developer shall convey a fee simple inte...
	(b) Developer may submit an additional Requisition to City upon paid Advances totaling $1,000,000 (one million dollars) toward construction and installation of the Public Infrastructure. Developer shall convey a fee simple interest in all rights of ways.
	(c) Upon the In-Service Date and delivery of the certification required by Section 4.1(d), Developer will submit a Requisition to City.  The Requisition will include (i) the Public Infrastructure Budget and (ii) the Public Infrastructure Costs. The ac...
	(d) The Requisition must be accompanied by evidence reasonably satisfactory to City showing:
	(i) Copies of all bills or statements or canceled checks for any indirect or non-construction expense for which the Disbursement is requested (other than land valuation as set forth on Schedule D);
	(ii) That all construction has been conducted substantially in accordance with the Plans (and all changes thereto approved by City or otherwise permitted pursuant to the terms hereof); and
	(iii) That there are no liens outstanding against the Public Infrastructure or the real property on which it is installed that are in violation of this Agreement.

	(e) The construction for which Reimbursement Costs are included in the Requisition must be reviewed and approved by City or its appointed consultant to verify the approval of the construction, the cost of completed construction, and compliance with th...
	(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in no event will Tax Allocation Increment applicable to periods after the first (1st) year after the In-Service year (the end of such period, the “Cutoff Date”) be used to satisfy outstanding balanc...
	(g) In no event shall Disbursements to Developer exceed a sum total of $4,750,000 (four million seven hundred and fifty thousand dollars), less amount of costs incurred by City relating to issuance and closing of TAD Bonds or other alternative financing.
	(h) In no event shall City make more than two Disbursements to Developer.
	(i) In no event shall City make any Disbursements to Developer prior to TAD Bond proceeds of a minimum of $2,375,000 being deposited into the Special Fund.

	Section 6.3 Limited Liability.
	(a) The payment of all Disbursements required by be paid by City under this Agreement shall be special or limited obligations of City payable only from the Special Fund.  City will have no liability to honor any Requisition except from amounts on depo...
	(b) To the extent permitted by State law, no director, officer, employee or agent of City will be personally responsible for any liability arising under or growing out of the Agreement.
	(c) City shall not be obligated to disburse any funds to any person under this Agreement other than as directed by Developer or as otherwise permitted under this Agreement.

	Section 6.4 Special Fund.  City will deposit the Tax Allocation Increment into the Special Fund as property tax payments are received. Any funds obtained from TAD bonds or other financing arrangements entered into by City shall also be deposited into ...
	Section 6.5 Alternative Financing.  Nothing in this Agreement will limit the right of City and Developer to consider alternative methods of financing or refinancing Reimbursement Costs, including, without limitation, the issuance of TAD Bonds, so long...

	ARTICLE 7  INDEMNIFICATION
	Section 7.1 Indemnification.  Developer will defend, indemnify, and hold City and its agents, employees, officers, and legal representatives (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”) harmless for all claims, causes of action, liabilities, fines, and e...
	Section 7.2 Notice of Claim.  If an Indemnified Person receives notice of any claim or circumstance which could give rise to indemnified Losses, the receiving party must give written notice to Developer within ten (10) business days.  The notice must ...
	Section 7.3 Defense.  Developer may assume and control the defense of the claim based on the indemnified Losses at its own expense with counsel chosen by Developer with the concurrence of the Indemnified Person.  In such case, Developer will also cont...
	Section 7.4 Separate Counsel.  If Developer elects to defend a claim, the Indemnified Person may retain separate counsel, at the sole cost and expense of such Indemnified Person, to participate in (but not control or impair) the defense and to partici...
	Section 7.5 Survival.  The provisions of Article VII will remain in effect until the expiration of one (1) years after certification of completion of the Public Infrastructure

	ARTICLE 8  DEFAULT
	Section 8.1 Default by Developer.
	(a) The following will constitute a “Default” by Developer:
	(i) Failure of Developer to materially and timely comply with and perform any of its covenants, conditions or obligations set forth in this Agreement;
	(ii) The declaration of an “event of default” by any lender under any Loan Documents, if any, with respect to Project Financing or a breach of Section 5.2;
	(iii) An Act of Bankruptcy of Developer;
	(iv) Any material representation or warranty made by Developer in this Agreement or subsequently made by it in any written statement or document furnished to City and related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is false, inaccurate or f...
	(v) Any material report, certificate or other document or instrument furnished to City by Developer in relation to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is false, inaccurate or misleading in any material respect; or if any report, certificat...


	Section 8.2 Remedies.  If a Default by Developer occurs and is continuing 60 days after receipt of written notice to Developer from City specifying the existence of such Default (or within a reasonable time thereafter if such Default cannot reasonably...
	Section 8.3 Remedies Cumulative.  Except as otherwise specifically provided, all remedies of the parties provided for herein are cumulative and will be in addition to any and all other rights and remedies provided for or available hereunder, at law or...
	Section 8.4 Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.  In the event of an Event of Default by Developer, if City employs attorneys or incurs other expenses for the collection of amounts due hereunder or for the enforcement of the performance or o...
	Section 8.5 Default by City.  The following will constitute a “Default” by City:  Any material breach by it of any representation made in this Agreement or any material failure by it to observe and perform any covenant, condition or agreement on its p...
	Section 8.6 Remedies Against City.  Upon the occurrence and continuance of a Default by City hereunder, Developer may seek any remedies available at law or in equity and may assert a claim for attorney’s fees, reasonable expenses and actual costs.

	ARTICLE 9  MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 9.1 Term of Agreement; Survival.  This Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and will expire on the earlier to occur of the date on which all Reimbursement Costs have been fully reimbursed to Developer from the Special Fund or one (1) ...
	Section 9.2 Notices.  Any notice sent under this Agreement (except as otherwise expressly required) must be written and mailed or sent by overnight courier or personally delivered to an officer of the receiving party at the following addresses:
	Section 9.3 Amendments and Waivers.  Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the parties hereto.  No course of dealing on the part of any party to this Agreement, nor any fail...
	Section 9.4 Invalidity.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held unenforceable in any respect, such unenforceability will not affect any other provision of this Agreement.
	Section 9.5 Successors and Assigns.  Prior to the In-Service Date, Developer may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder or any interest herein without the prior written consent of City, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld,...
	Section 9.6 Schedules; Titles of Articles and Sections.  The Schedules attached to this Agreement are incorporated herein and will be considered a part of this Agreement for the purposes stated herein, except that in the event of any conflict between ...
	Section 9.7 Applicable Law.  This Agreement is a contract made under and will be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the United States of America and the State of Georgia.  Venue for any legal action resulting from this Agreement ...
	Section 9.8 Entire Agreement.  This written agreement represents the final agreement between the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or subsequent oral agreements of the parties.  There are no unwritten oral agre...
	Section 9.9 Approval by the Parties.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits approval or consent to be hereafter given by any of the parties, the parties agree that such approval or consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed...
	Section 9.10 Additional Actions.  The parties agree to take such actions, including the execution and delivery of such documents, instruments, petitions and certifications as may be necessary or appropriate, from time to time, to carry out the terms, ...


	ADPD2AF.tmp
	ARTICLE 1  RECITALS
	ARTICLE 2  GENERAL TERMS
	Section 2.1 Definitions.  Unless the context clearly requires a different meaning, the following terms are used herein with the following meanings:
	Section 2.2 Singular and Plural.  Words used herein in the singular, where the context so permits, also include the plural and vice versa.  The definitions of words in the singular herein also apply to such words when used in the plural where the cont...

	ARTICLE 3  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
	Section 3.1 Representations and Warranties of Developer.  Developer hereby represents and warrants to City that:
	(a) Organization and Authority.  Developer is in good standing and authorized to transact business in the State of Georgia as a domestic limited liability company.  Developer’s officers have the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver thi...
	(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and proceedings by or on behalf of Developer, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, ...
	(c) Organizational Documents.  Developer’s organizational documents are in full force and effect as of the Effective Date, and no fact or circumstance has occurred that, by itself or with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would cons...
	(d) Bankruptcy.  No Act of Bankruptcy has occurred with respect to Developer.
	(e) No Litigation.  There is no action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Developer, threatened against or affecting Developer in any court, before any arbitrator or before or by any governmental body which (i) in any manner raises an...
	(f) No Undisclosed Liabilities.  Developer is not in default under or in breach of any material contract or agreement, and no event has occurred which, with the passage of time or giving of notice (or both) would constitute such a default, which has a...
	(g) Principal Office.  The address of Developer’s principal place of business is 2704 Old Register Rd, Statesboro Ga, 30458.
	(h) Licenses and Permits.  Developer will at all appropriate times possess all franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, licenses and permits, and rights in respect of the foregoing, adequate for the conduct of its business substantial...
	(i) Project Location.  The Public Infrastructure is located wholly within City and further, wholly within the boundaries of tax parcels 076 0000001 000, 002, 004, and 006, as such parcels are identified by the Board of Tax Assessors for Bulloch County...
	(j) Utilities.  All utility services necessary and sufficient for the construction and operation of the Public Infrastructure will be obtained when needed and will at all appropriate times be available through dedicated public rights of way or through...
	(k) Plans.  Developer will furnish to City true and complete sets of the Plans.  The Plans so furnished to City will comply with all applicable governmental requirements, all Project Approvals, and all restrictions, covenants and easements affecting t...
	(l) Funding Sources for Project Financing.  Schedule G contains a true, correct, and completed list of all sources and uses of funds, including all Project Financing, all of which has been committed to Developer.
	(m) Liens.  Other than as to City, there are no material liens of record of laborers, subcontractors or materialmen on or respecting the Public Infrastructure on the Effective Date. Developer shall provide a signed notarized affidavit/form certifying ...
	(n) Construction Schedule.  The Public Infrastructure Construction Schedule is complete and accurately reflects the currently estimated schedule for construction of the Public Infrastructure.
	(o) Budget.  The Public Infrastructure Budget is complete and accurately reflects the currently estimated costs of the Public Infrastructure.
	(p) Title.  As of the Effective Date, Developer holds fee simple title to the Site.
	(q) Tax Allocation Increment.  Developer acknowledges that City has made no representation as to the amount of Tax Allocation Increment to be generated by the TAD and that Developer has had the opportunity to investigate and make its own conclusions a...
	(r) Special Services District Developer acknowledges that should Tax Allocation Increment be insufficient to pay for servicing the TAD Bonds that City shall create a special services tax district over the TAD. A Special Services District may be establ...

	Section 3.2 Representations and Warranties of City.  City hereby represents and warrants to Developer that:
	(a) Organization and Authority.  City is a municipal corporation duly created and existing under the laws of the State.  City has the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to incur and perform its obligations hereunder, ...
	(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and proceedings by or on behalf of City, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, inclu...
	(c) No Litigation.  There are no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of any kind pending or threatened against City before any court, tribunal or administrative agency or board or any mediator or arbitrator that questions the validity of thi...
	(d) TAD Resolution.  The TAD Resolution has been validly adopted, remains in full force and effect, and has not been amended or supplemented since its date of adoption.  No amendment of or supplement to the TAD Resolution is contemplated by City.
	(e) Redevelopment Agent.  City has been duly designated as Redevelopment Agent for the TAD as contemplated by the Redevelopment Powers Law.
	(f) Recitals.  The Recitals in Article I of this Agreement relating to actions taken by public bodies are true and correct.
	(g) Redevelopment Plan and TAD.  The Redevelopment Plan and the TAD have been duly adopted and created, respectively, by City


	ARTICLE 4  DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION
	Section 4.1 Construction, Completion, and Conveyance of the Public Infrastructure
	(a) Developer will use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and construct, or cause the development and construction of, the Public Infrastructure with diligence and good faith in a good and workmanlike manner and in substantial conformance with...
	(b) Developer will construct, or cause the construction of, the Public Infrastructure in accordance with all applicable Legal Requirements.
	(c) Beginning on the Effective Date and continuing until the Public Infrastructure Completion Date, on or before the last business day of every reporting month Developer will provide City a written update on the status and progress of the construction...
	(d) Upon completion of the construction of the Public Infrastructure, Developer will provide City with a final cost summary of all costs and expenses associated with the Public Infrastructure, a certification that it has been completed, and evidence t...
	(e) Upon completion of the preceding subsection and review and approval of Public Infrastructure by City Staff, Developer shall convey the Site, all Public Infrastructure, necessary easements, and applicable rights of way to City.
	(f) Developer shall obtain a “completion bond” to ensure that installation of Public Infrastructure is completed in the event there is a termination of this agreement as contemplated in Section 4.3. City shall be listed as endorsee/ beneficiary of sai...

	Section 4.2 Approvals Required for the Project.  Developer will obtain or cause to be obtained all necessary Project Approvals for the Public Infrastructure and will comply with all Legal Requirements of any governmental body regarding the use or cond...
	Section 4.3 Unreasonable Delay or Abandonment; Cessation of Work.  If City determines in its reasonable discretion that construction and/or installation the Public Infrastructure is delayed for reasons other than Force Majeure or market forces such th...
	Section 4.4 Material Modifications.  Prior to Developer making a Material Modification to the Public Infrastructure, Developer will submit the proposed modifications to the City Manager in writing for review.  Any such submission must clearly identify...

	ARTICLE 5  DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND SPECIAL COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER
	Section 5.1 Completion of the Project.  Subject to any delays for Force Majeure, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement Developer will commence and complete construction of the Public Infrastructure substantially in accordance with Sche...
	Section 5.2 Compliance with Documents.  Prior to its compliance with the Performance Commitments set forth in Schedule I, Developer will remain in compliance with its obligations and covenants in the Loan Documents, if any,  pursuant to which amounts ...
	Section 5.3 Litigation.  Developer will notify City in writing, within fifteen (15) business days of its having knowledge thereof, of any actual or pending litigation or adversarial proceeding in which a claim is made against Developer or against the ...
	Section 5.4 Maintenance of the Project.  Developer agrees that, for as long it has a real property interest in the Public Infrastructure, it will at its own expense (i) keep the Public Infrastructure, or cause it to be kept, in as reasonably safe cond...
	Section 5.5 Records and Accounts.  Developer will keep true and accurate records and books of account in connection with the Public Infrastructure in which full, true and correct entries will be made on a consistent basis, in accordance with GAAP in a...
	Section 5.6 Liens and Other Charges.  Developer will duly pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and discharged, before the same become overdue all claims for labor, materials, or supplies that if unpaid might by law become a lien or charge upon the P...
	Section 5.7 Compliance with Laws, Contracts, Licenses, and Permits.  Developer will comply in all material respects with (a) all applicable laws related to the Public Infrastructure, (b) all material agreements and instruments related to or regarding ...
	Section 5.8 Laborers, Subcontractors and Materialmen.  On or before the end of each calendar quarter prior to the Public Infrastructure Completion Date, Developer will furnish to City, upon written request, affidavits listing all laborers, subcontract...
	Section 5.9 Taxes.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer will pay when due all taxes imposed upon or assessed against the Site and the Public Infrastructure or arising in respect of the use or possession thereof, and will provide to City, ...
	Section 5.10 Insurance.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer, or its Affiliates, will keep the Public Infrastructure continuously insured consistent with its normal operating policies and subject to its customary deductibles and limitatio...
	Section 5.11 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments.  City and Developer agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements and amendments hereto and ...
	Section 5.12 Performance by Developer.  Developer will perform all acts to be performed by it hereunder and will refrain from taking or omitting to take any action that would materially violate Developer’s representations and warranties hereunder or r...
	Section 5.13 Restrictions on Easements and Covenants.  Except for Permitted Exceptions, Developer will not create or suffer to be created or to exist any easement, right of way, restriction, covenant, condition, license or other right in favor of any ...
	Section 5.14 Access to the Site.  Prior to the In-service Date Developer will permit persons designated by City to access the Site and to discuss the progress and status of the Public Infrastructure with representatives of Developer, all in such detai...
	Section 5.15 Delivery of Documents.  No later than five (5) business days prior to the Effective Date, Developer shall deliver to City the following:
	(a) Most recent plat of the Site;
	(b) Title Policy for the Public Infrastructure parcels, including any Permitted Exceptions;
	(c) Resolutions authorizing Developer to enter into this Agreement (see Section 3.1(b)); and
	(d) Certification of the good standing of Developer from the Georgia Secretary of State.


	ARTICLE 6  DISBURSEMENT; SPECIAL FUND; FINANCING ALTERNATIVES
	Section 6.1 Advances.
	(a) Developer shall may make or cause to be made Advances sufficient to fully install and construct all Public Infrastructure.
	(b) Developer may submit a Requisition to City for its review and approval for reimbursement for any such Advances in accordance with Section 6.2.

	Section 6.2 Disbursement.  Subject to substantial compliance by Developer with all of the material terms and conditions of this Agreement, the funds deposited into the Special Fund will be available for disbursement to Developer for reimbursement of A...
	(a) Developer may submit a Requisition to City upon paid Advances totaling $2,375,000 (two million three hundred seventy five thousand dollars) toward construction and installation of the Public Infrastructure. Developer shall convey a fee simple inte...
	(b) Developer may submit an additional Requisition to City upon paid Advances totaling $1,000,000 (one million dollars) toward construction and installation of the Public Infrastructure. Developer shall convey a fee simple interest in all rights of ways.
	(c) Upon the In-Service Date and delivery of the certification required by Section 4.1(d), Developer will submit a Requisition to City.  The Requisition will include (i) the Public Infrastructure Budget and (ii) the Public Infrastructure Costs. The ac...
	(d) The Requisition must be accompanied by evidence reasonably satisfactory to City showing:
	(i) Copies of all bills or statements or canceled checks for any indirect or non-construction expense for which the Disbursement is requested (other than land valuation as set forth on Schedule D);
	(ii) That all construction has been conducted substantially in accordance with the Plans (and all changes thereto approved by City or otherwise permitted pursuant to the terms hereof); and
	(iii) That there are no liens outstanding against the Public Infrastructure or the real property on which it is installed that are in violation of this Agreement.

	(e) The construction for which Reimbursement Costs are included in the Requisition must be reviewed and approved by City or its appointed consultant to verify the approval of the construction, the cost of completed construction, and compliance with th...
	(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in no event will Tax Allocation Increment applicable to periods after the first (1st) year after the In-Service year (the end of such period, the “Cutoff Date”) be used to satisfy outstanding balanc...
	(g) In no event shall Disbursements to Developer exceed a sum total of $4,750,000 (four million seven hundred and fifty thousand dollars), less amount of costs incurred by City relating to issuance and closing of TAD Bonds or other alternative financing.
	(h) In no event shall City make more than two Disbursements to Developer.
	(i) In no event shall City make any Disbursements to Developer prior to TAD Bond proceeds of a minimum of $2,375,000 being deposited into the Special Fund.

	Section 6.3 Limited Liability.
	(a) The payment of all Disbursements required by be paid by City under this Agreement shall be special or limited obligations of City payable only from the Special Fund.  City will have no liability to honor any Requisition except from amounts on depo...
	(b) To the extent permitted by State law, no director, officer, employee or agent of City will be personally responsible for any liability arising under or growing out of the Agreement.
	(c) City shall not be obligated to disburse any funds to any person under this Agreement other than as directed by Developer or as otherwise permitted under this Agreement.

	Section 6.4 Special Fund.  City will deposit the Tax Allocation Increment into the Special Fund as property tax payments are received. Any funds obtained from TAD bonds or other financing arrangements entered into by City shall also be deposited into ...
	Section 6.5 Alternative Financing.  Nothing in this Agreement will limit the right of City and Developer to consider alternative methods of financing or refinancing Reimbursement Costs, including, without limitation, the issuance of TAD Bonds, so long...

	ARTICLE 7  INDEMNIFICATION
	Section 7.1 Indemnification.  Developer will defend, indemnify, and hold City and its agents, employees, officers, and legal representatives (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”) harmless for all claims, causes of action, liabilities, fines, and e...
	Section 7.2 Notice of Claim.  If an Indemnified Person receives notice of any claim or circumstance which could give rise to indemnified Losses, the receiving party must give written notice to Developer within ten (10) business days.  The notice must ...
	Section 7.3 Defense.  Developer may assume and control the defense of the claim based on the indemnified Losses at its own expense with counsel chosen by Developer with the concurrence of the Indemnified Person.  In such case, Developer will also cont...
	Section 7.4 Separate Counsel.  If Developer elects to defend a claim, the Indemnified Person may retain separate counsel, at the sole cost and expense of such Indemnified Person, to participate in (but not control or impair) the defense and to partici...
	Section 7.5 Survival.  The provisions of Article VII will remain in effect until the expiration of one (1) years after certification of completion of the Public Infrastructure

	ARTICLE 8  DEFAULT
	Section 8.1 Default by Developer.
	(a) The following will constitute a “Default” by Developer:
	(i) Failure of Developer to materially and timely comply with and perform any of its covenants, conditions or obligations set forth in this Agreement;
	(ii) The declaration of an “event of default” by any lender under any Loan Documents, if any, with respect to Project Financing or a breach of Section 5.2;
	(iii) An Act of Bankruptcy of Developer;
	(iv) Any material representation or warranty made by Developer in this Agreement or subsequently made by it in any written statement or document furnished to City and related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is false, inaccurate or f...
	(v) Any material report, certificate or other document or instrument furnished to City by Developer in relation to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is false, inaccurate or misleading in any material respect; or if any report, certificat...


	Section 8.2 Remedies.  If a Default by Developer occurs and is continuing 60 days after receipt of written notice to Developer from City specifying the existence of such Default (or within a reasonable time thereafter if such Default cannot reasonably...
	Section 8.3 Remedies Cumulative.  Except as otherwise specifically provided, all remedies of the parties provided for herein are cumulative and will be in addition to any and all other rights and remedies provided for or available hereunder, at law or...
	Section 8.4 Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.  In the event of an Event of Default by Developer, if City employs attorneys or incurs other expenses for the collection of amounts due hereunder or for the enforcement of the performance or o...
	Section 8.5 Default by City.  The following will constitute a “Default” by City:  Any material breach by it of any representation made in this Agreement or any material failure by it to observe and perform any covenant, condition or agreement on its p...
	Section 8.6 Remedies Against City.  Upon the occurrence and continuance of a Default by City hereunder, Developer may seek any remedies available at law or in equity and may assert a claim for attorney’s fees, reasonable expenses and actual costs.

	ARTICLE 9  MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 9.1 Term of Agreement; Survival.  This Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and will expire on the earlier to occur of the date on which all Reimbursement Costs have been fully reimbursed to Developer from the Special Fund or one (1) ...
	Section 9.2 Notices.  Any notice sent under this Agreement (except as otherwise expressly required) must be written and mailed or sent by overnight courier or personally delivered to an officer of the receiving party at the following addresses:
	Section 9.3 Amendments and Waivers.  Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the parties hereto.  No course of dealing on the part of any party to this Agreement, nor any fail...
	Section 9.4 Invalidity.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held unenforceable in any respect, such unenforceability will not affect any other provision of this Agreement.
	Section 9.5 Successors and Assigns.  Prior to the In-Service Date, Developer may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder or any interest herein without the prior written consent of City, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld,...
	Section 9.6 Schedules; Titles of Articles and Sections.  The Schedules attached to this Agreement are incorporated herein and will be considered a part of this Agreement for the purposes stated herein, except that in the event of any conflict between ...
	Section 9.7 Applicable Law.  This Agreement is a contract made under and will be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the United States of America and the State of Georgia.  Venue for any legal action resulting from this Agreement ...
	Section 9.8 Entire Agreement.  This written agreement represents the final agreement between the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or subsequent oral agreements of the parties.  There are no unwritten oral agre...
	Section 9.9 Approval by the Parties.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits approval or consent to be hereafter given by any of the parties, the parties agree that such approval or consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed...
	Section 9.10 Additional Actions.  The parties agree to take such actions, including the execution and delivery of such documents, instruments, petitions and certifications as may be necessary or appropriate, from time to time, to carry out the terms, ...





